

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# The Relationship Between Kindergarten to Grade 8 Principals' Epistemological Beliefs and School Success

Leland Stuart sanford *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons, and the Epistemology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Leland S. Sanford

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. John Harrison, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Michael Brophy, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Markus Berndt, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

# \_Abstract

The Relationship Between Kindergarten to Grade 8 Principals' Epistemological Beliefs

and School Success

by

Leland S. Sanford

MPhil, Walden University, 2020

MA, Chicago State University, 1996

BS, DePaul University, 1983

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Education

Walden University

July 2022

Abstract

Although current research links teacher effectiveness and student success to epistemological beliefs, little is known about how those beliefs influence principal leadership and school success. The purpose of this study was to examine the extent to which epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success in a large U.S. metropolitan area (LMA). The theoretical framework was Perry's theory of epistemological development and Schommer-Aikin's theory of personal epistemology. In this quantitative correlational study, epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals were measured with the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory and school success with School Quality Rating Policy (SQRP). Data were collected through a convenient sample from 51 K-8 principals with two or more years of experience in public and charter schools (out of a population of 105 in the LMA). Logistic regressions were conducted to determine if epistemological beliefs were a significant predictor of school success. Results indicated that the medium epistemological beliefs group was 8 times more likely to achieve school success than the low group. Individually, the four dimensions of epistemological beliefs were not predictive of school success. This research study increased our knowledge of the relationship between epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals and school success and has implications for principal leadership programs, principal selection processes, and school success. School success can translate into student success in elementary, high school, college, and vocational school and can have spillover effects on urban renewal.

# The Relationship Between Kindergarten to Grade 8 Principals' Epistemological Beliefs

and School Success

by

Leland S. Sanford

MPhil, Walden University, 2020 MA, Chicago State University, 1996 BS, DePaul University, 1983

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Education

Walden University

July 2022

# Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my wife, Estelle "Penny" Sanford, who provides all of the following: love, patience, support, and counsel. In addition, I dedicate this dissertation to all of my family and friends who provided support.

# Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge Dr. John A. Harrison for his steadfast guidance throughout my journey. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Joshua Bass for his assistance, advice, and concern. Finally, I would like to acknowledge the Walden community for all of the assistance that I received throughout my journey.

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	V
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Annual Yearly Progress and School Rating Quality Policy	4
Problem Statement	6
Purpose of the Study	8
Research Question and Hypotheses	8
Theoretical Foundation	9
Nature of the Study	11
Definitions	13
Assumptions	14
Scope and Delimitations	14
Limitations	15
Significance	15
Summary	17
Chapter 2: Literature Review	19
Introduction	19
Literature Search Strategy	20
Theoretical Foundation	21
Perry 24	

# Table of Contents

Schommer-Aikins	
Hofer 35	
Summary	
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts	
AYP and Leadership	41
Relevance	44
Summary and Conclusions	52
Chapter 3: Research Method	56
Introduction	56
Research Design and Rationale	56
Methodology	58
Population	58
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	59
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	61
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	63
Data Analysis Plan	65
Threats to Validity	66
External Validity	66
Internal Validity	67
Construct Validity	68
Ethical Procedures	68
Summary	69

Chapter 4: Results	70
Introduction	70
Data Collection	71
Results 72	
Descriptive Statistics	
Statistical Assumptions	73
First Logistic Regression	75
Second Logistic Regression	
Post Hoc Test	79
Summary	79
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	81
Introduction	81
Interpretation of the Findings	82
Findings in Relation to the Literature	
Findings in Relation to the Theoretical Framework	
Limitations of the Study	87
Recommendations	88
Implications	90
Conclusion	91
References	93
Appendix: Epistemological Beliefs of K-8 Principals Questionnaire	110

# List of Tables

Table 1. Epistemological Models and Units of Analysis	22
Table 2. Definitions of Epistemological Terms	23
Table 3. Developmental Models Associated With Perry's (1999) Work	28
Table 4. Epistemological Development	29
Table 5. Schommer-Aikins Model	34
Table 6. Epistemological Beliefs Factors and Questions	64
Table 7. Descriptive Statistics of Categorical Variables	73
Table 8. Epistemological Beliefs Factors and Questions	74
Table 9. Chi-Square Table for the Epistemological Beliefs Categories	76
Table 10. Regression Coefficients Table of the Log Mean Epistemological Beliefs	76
Table 11. Regression Coefficients Table for the Epistemological Beliefs Categories	77
Table 12. Regression Coefficients Table of the Log Mean Epistemological Beliefs	
Factors	78
Table 13. Chi-Square Table for the Epistemological Beliefs Factors	79
Table 14. Regression Coefficients Table for the Epistemological Beliefs Factors	79

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Epistemic Tools	. 40
Figure 2. Results of Power Analysis Using G*Power	. 61
Figure 3. Post-Hoc Analysis for Logistic Regression	. 72

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

In this quantitative correlational research study, I examined the relationship between the epistemological beliefs of kindergarten to Grade 8 (K-8) elementary school principals and how those beliefs predicted school success. The specific focus of this dissertation was on how epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success within a large metropolitan area (LMA). Herring (2018) concluded that it is important for principals to be aware of factors that influence how they use data within schools to make decisions. However, there is very little current research (Schraw (2017) on the relationship between K-8 principal's epistemological beliefs and school success. Epistemological beliefs, according to Schraw (2017), are beliefs and cognitions about the nature of knowledge and knowing held by individuals. In the context of this studydissertation, epistemological beliefs are beliefs and cognitions about the nature of knowledge held by principals, in particular, how they consider their leadership.

This study needed to be conducted because better understanding the relationship between the epistemological beliefs of principals and school success may provide insight that educational leaders can use to create more effective schools. Increased school success may yield positive social change for all those associated with the school system, as well as the neighborhoods in which the schools exist. School success was the outcome variable and was measured using the School Quality Rating Policy score (CITE), which is further detailed in Chapters 2 and 3. Successful schools, especially in high-poverty areas, have the potential to transform the neighborhoods in which they exist. In many cases, a good school is the single most important variable that can bring increased business development to the community (Mendez & Gayo, 2019). Thus, understanding the predictive value of epistemological beliefs for school success may lead to positive social change by having a positive systemic effect on neighborhoods and communities.

In this chapter, I provide an overview of the study that I conducted. This chapter consists of the background of the study, followed by the problem statement and the purpose of the study. After stating the research question (RQ) and hypotheses, I describe the theoretical foundation and nature of the study. The definitions of terms used in the study follow. This chapter also contains the assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and significance of the study and a summary section.

#### Background

Since the landmark No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) of 2001, K-12 schools and school district in the United States have been required to make annual yearly progress (AYP) benchmarks. The U.S. Department of Education established the AYP guideline to measure the performance of schools in reading and math (Jones et al,2018). Schools that make AYP goals have to meet federal and state standards in both math and reading (Jones et al., 2018). AYP is measured at the end of each school year. As a measure of school performance, AYP is based on several categories, including student performance in math, a high-stakes reading achievement test, attendance rates of students, and graduation rates of schools. the principal, as the educational leader of the school, has the overall responsibility of meeting the requirements of each one of these performance categories each year (Friedman, 2020; Liethwood et al., 2020; Travlos, 2020).

Under federal guidelines established under the NCLB (2001), schools that fail to meet AYP for 2 consecutive years face sanctions by both federal and state governments (Jorgensen & Hoffman, 2003). However, how schools are sanctioned is left largely up to the states. In general, the authorities of many states have set up stages of sanctions for schools that do not make AYP for 2 years or more. In the LMA district that was examined in this study, schools that failed to make AYP moved through stages that involved warnings to complete restructuring. Schools that continually failed to meet state AYP standards each year were closed, and students were forced to find alternative schools, in many cases, outside of their neighborhood. NCLB legislation spurred the creation of charter schools in many cities, which offer an alternative to failing schools by providing parents with school choice (Breger, 2017). The increase in charter schools in many urban U.S. school districts has caused enrollment in local public schools to dwindle, resulting in underutilized public-school buildings (Breger, 2017). Along with poor academic performance, underutilized buildings have provided a rationale to close schools.

Federal lawmakers significantly revised how AYP is measured under the guidelines of the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) of 2015 (see also Illinois ESSA Plan Executive Summary, 2018). Under the Obama administration, lawmakers passed the ESSA to replace NCLB. This change gave more authority back to the states to guide school success. Thus, states have more control over high-stakes testing as well as school closures (Hales et al., 2018). What progress is considered adequate is now determined by the states and not the U.S. Department of Education. This requires engaging at the local

level to determine school quality an progress for low-performing schools (Illinois ESSA Plan Executive Summary, 2018). AYP remains a significant indicator of effective principal leadership (Buske & Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, 2019; González-Cauley, 2018; Haim Shaked, 2020; Yan, 2020). Breger (2017) found that 57 out of 455 public schools in the LMA met AYP standards in 2013. Schools that do not meet AYP standards are consistered failing and are at risk of being restructured or closed. Out of all stakeholders (e.g., teachers, counselors, and other personnel), the principal is "the mandated person responsible for student success" (Breger, 2017, p. 311). Their decisions could determine the continued existence of the schools they lead.

### **Annual Yearly Progress and School Rating Quality Policy**

Under ESSA (2015), AYP is still a measure of school performance based on several categories: student performance in math, reading achievement tests (a high-stakes test), attendance rates of students, and graduation rates of schools. Meeting the requirements of each one of these performance categories is still the overall responsibility of the principal, as the educational leader of the school. Thus, whether a school meets annual AYP is the responsibility of the principal. At the end of each year, each school in the LMA receives a school quality rating, called the School Quality Rating Policy (SQRP). These ratings are based on the school's AYP performance. So, if a school's AYP is low, its SQRP will also be lower.

School leadership is associated with performance standards on standardized tests (Leithwood et al., 2020). Moore et al. (2016) found that teachers' perceptions of principals as instructional leaders were connected to academic achievement on

standardized tests. Instructional leadership is critical to perceived school success. Buske et al. (2019) found that epistemological beliefs of principals have some influence on data usage within schools. If, for example, a principal is skeptical towards internal data generated within a school, then important data generated within the school may not be used in day-to-day decisions.

On the other hand, the same skepticism could also be found with external data. Decisions to use or not use certain kinds of data can have a significant impact on the success of a school (Buske & Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, 2019). Seminal epistemological studies have shown that many of these kinds of decisions are made at the preobservational level (Duell & Schommer-Aikins, 2001; Schommer-Aikins, 2010; Schraw et al., 2002). Thus, epistemological beliefs are often unstated and go unrecognized by the decision maker. The effective use of data is a critical factor in school success. Buske and Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia (2019) stated: "The more developed the epistemological beliefs are, the more it will be possible to support knowledge sharing and data use in schools, leading back to the position of the principal" (p. 127). Epistemological beliefs includes beliefs about the source of knowledge and whether it is internal or external (Duell et al., 2001; Schommer-Aikins, 2004; Schommer-Aikins, 2010; Schraw et al., 2002). Numerous studies have shown the impact that epistemological beliefs have on teachers and elementary, high school, and college students (Schraw et al., 2017). In reviewing the literature, I found no current quantitative studies that illuminate the relationship between epistemological beliefs of principals and school success. Buske and Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia (2019) found that principals who hold specific epistemological beliefs towards a source of knowledge have a tendency to either use external sources of knowledge (i.e., scientific journals or internal knowledge generated from within the school) to make decisions. How epistemological beliefs influence principals to make decisions is considered an underresearched area, according to Buske and Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia.

This study was needed for three reasons. First, school leadership is associated with performance standards on standardized tests (Sun et al., 2016). Second, epistemological beliefs of principals are critical to understand because such beliefs influence decision making, problem-solving, knowledge sharing practices, efficacy, and instructional approaches to the curriculum, which in turn affect student academic performance (Spiess, 2017). Third, there is a gap in the literature on the relationship between the epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals and school success. Therefore, this study was appropriate and may contribute to addressing the gap in in the literature.

## **Problem Statement**

It is not known if, or to what extent, the epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals are predictive of school success. Buske and Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia (2019) identified epistemological beliefs of principals and how they influenced data use within schools as an important area of research that needs more attention. Herring (2018) found that it is important for principals to understand their own data dissemination practices. Principals play a determinative and decisive role in school reform (Herring, 2018; Schechter et al., 2017). They are mandated with translating policy into action within the school (Schechter & Shaked, 2017). This makes the role of the principal within the school very important.

Therefore, any research that can help to illuminate and improve upon their capacity is worthy of attention. Furthermore, the current federal administration's emphasis on vouchers and parental choice with more decentralization will create a more competitive environment for public schools as well as charter schools. Thus, school survival will depend more and more on effective decisions of principals. The problem that was addressed in this study is that there is no current quantitative research, based on my review of the litarture, on the personal epistemological beliefs of principals and school success.

There are several seminal studies on epistemological beliefs and principal leadership. Arredondo and Rucinski (1998) were some of the first researchers to raise the question of how certain epistemological beliefs of principals affect the adoption of certain innovations within schools, hiring of teachers, participation of teachers, in school-wide decisions, and decisions about which curriculum to adopt. Arredondo and Rucinski concluded that there is no significant difference between teacher epistemic beliefs and those of principals. Arredondo and Rucinski also argued that the administrator's personal epistemological beliefs influenced curriculum decisions as well as the adoption of specific innovations within the school. Tam (2018) and Varaki (2003) concluded that personal epistemological beliefs of administrators are tied to leadership style and therefore ought to be considered as a factor when hiring principals. Finally, Brownlee et al. (2009, 2010) found a relationship between epistemological beliefs of childcare leaders in Australia to leadership styles. However, these studies on epistemological beliefs of school leaders are somewhat dated.

Furthermore, the authors of these studies found that there was either a connection between epistemological beliefs and transformational leadership and/or curriculum decisions. Thus, in this study I investigated the epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals and whether certain epistemological beliefs of principals predict the success of the school. I attempted to address the gap of knowledge on how epistemological beliefs of principals predict school success.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine to what extent epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals in the target LMA predicted school success. The first variable was the independent predictor variable epistemological beliefs, as measured by the Schommer-Aikins (2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory. The second variable was the dichotomous dependent variable, school success, as measured by the four domains of the SQRP. All the questions on the SQRP are rated on a 1-5 scale. School success is scored 0 (unsuccessful) or 1 (successful). The original categorical scoring system of the SQRP is 1 for highest performance (this is a nationally competitive school), 2 for high performance (this is a good school choice with many positive qualities), 3 for somewhat low performance (additional support from the network team is needed), 4 for below average performance (provisional support status requires increased support from the network), and 5 for lowest performance (the school is in need of intensive intervention. In the SQRP scale, 1 and 2 equal pass (1), and 3, 4, and 5 equal fail (0).

### **Research Question and Hypotheses**

The RQ and hypotheses for the study were as follows:

RQ: To what extent do epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success?

 $H_01$ : Epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals, as measured by the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory, are not significant predictors of SQRP school ratings.

 $H_1$ 1: Epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals, as measured by the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory are significant predictors of SQRP school ratings.

 $H_02$ : Epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals, as measured by the four individual sub-scales of the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory and the number of years as principal are not significant predictors of SQRP school ratings.

 $H_12$ : Epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals, as measured by the four individual sub-scales of the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory and the number of years as principal are significant predictors of SQRP school ratings.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

The theoretical framework for this study was Perry's (1999) seminal theory of epistemological development, as well as Hofer's (2002) and Schommer-Aikin's (2004) theories of personal epistemology. Perry theorized epistemological development based on his studies of the cognitive and ethical development of undergraduate students. He contended that college students go through four stages of mental and moral development. The four stages are dualism, multiplicity, relativism, and, lastly, commitment. In the Perry (1999) framework, dualism is the belief that every problem is solvable, that students are to learn the right answers, and that one must obey authorities. Multiplicity is based on two types of problems: solvable and unsolvable. In this stage, students put trust in their own inner voice. During the third stage, relativism, all solutions to problems must have reasons and must be viewed within a specific context. Every issue must be evaluated because everything is contextual. Lastly, commitment involves an acceptance of uncertainty as part of life. During this stage, students use the combination of personal experience and evidence learned from outside sources to arrive at conclusions.

Schommer-Aikins (2004) introduced a quantitative measurement of epistemological beliefs and several new ideas within the field. A central idea is that epistemological development is asynchronous and that epistemological beliefs are distinct ideas. Schommer-Aikins conducted over 15 empirical studies on epistemological beliefs on college and high school students. In 1991, Schommer-Aikins proposed a quantitative model of assessing epistemological beliefs that was based on five features of an epistemological belief system that distinguished it from previous models. The first of the five features is the source of knowledge. The second is the certainty of knowledge. The third is how knowledge is organized. The fourth feature is how learning is controlled. Finally, the fifth feature is the speed of learning.

A premise of Perry's (1999) theoretical framework is that epistemological beliefs are not unidimensional. Epistemological beliefs develop over time, and development in one stage may affect other stages. In LMA school success is measured through the SQRP.

The SQRP has a 1-5 scale, where 1 and 2 equal pass, and 3, 4, and 5 equal fail (0). School success is scored 0 (fail) or 1 (pass). The four dimensions of epistemological beliefs are scored on a 1 to 5 scale. This was because Schommer-Aikins's (2004) theoretical framework argues that epistemological beliefs are deeply ingrained beliefs within the psyche that affect decisions and behavior. The SQRP rating is a result of how principals make decisions within the school. Therefore, SQRP ratings are affected by the epistemological beliefs of the principal. There are four subscales of Schommer-Aikins's (2004) Epistemological Beliefs Inventory. Therefore, each subscale was included independently in the logistic regression model.

Additionally, Perry's (1999) and Schommer-Aikins's (2004) theoretical frameworks were aligned with the quantitative research approach. Both of these instruments are validated, and their reliabilities have been tested. Second, Schommer-Aikins stated that epistemology should be measured quantitatively. So, given that the two theoretical frameworks help explain the outcome of the study's RQ, and their research designs are aligned with the research design of the current study, Perry and Schommer-Aikins were deemed appropriate for this study.

## Nature of the Study

I used a quantitative methodology featuring a regression correlational design. Researchers conducting regression correlation studies evaluate if there is a linear predictive relationship between two or more variables (Cresswell, 2018; Fields, 2018). Even though one of the study variables was dichotomous, a linear relationship was

possible (see Field, 2017; Pallant, 2020). The dependent variable is dichotomous and the predictor variable is continuous, thereefor,logistic regression was used.

The data for this investigation came from two sources. The first source was archival data of public records of schools' yearly SQRP rating from K-8 elementary schools selected from an LMA comprising 111 schools. The second set of data was sourced from the Epistemological Belief Inventory (Schommer-Aikins, 2004). I administered principals from the selected schools the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory. The sample size for this project was 111 schools and was partly informed by the statistical technique used to analyze the data. The data from school-reported SQRP status had five categorical levels, which ranged from highest performance (1) to lowest performance (5). If a school is Level 1 or 2, it is considered as a success. If it is Level 3 (somewhat low performance) to 5 (lowest performance), the school may receive provisional support or intensive support from the network in which it is placed. Therefore, 1 and 2 equal pass (1), and 3, 4, and 5 equal fail (0). So, school success is scored 0 (fail) or 1 (pass).

The Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory consists of a 5-point Likert scale. Such data are considered interval data (see Connally, 2007). School success was scored 0 (fail) or 1 (pass). According to Field (2018) and Pallant (2020), a binomial logistic regression is used when one or more continuous and/or categorical variables are used to predict a binary outcome variable. I chose the binary logistic regression model because of the level of measurement associated with the coefficient type.

#### Definitions

*Adequate yearly progress (AYP)*: A yearly performance measure of state and local K-12 schools that, in Illinois, is linked to a LMA school's yearly SQRP rating (Illinois State Board of Education State Template for the Consolidated State Plan Under Every Student Succeeds Act, 2017).

*Certain knowledge*: The belief that knowledge is absolute (Schommer-Aikins, 1989).

*Dualism*: A perspective that knowledge is a binary right or wrong centered on authority (Perry, 1999). Thus, whether knowledge is right or wrong is determined by some authority (Perry, 1999).

*Epistemological beliefs*: Beliefs about the nature of knowledge and learning (Duell & Schommer-Aikins, 2001)

*Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015 (ESSA)*: The reauthorization of NCLB. The legislation shifted to states accountability for quality education within public schools (ESSA, 2015). State authorities determine accountability for school success.

*Innate ability*: The belief that what one learns does not exceed one's inborn ability (Schommer-Aikins, 1989).

*No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB)*: A law passed by the Bush administration in 2001 to reform public education. It mandated that all schoolchildren read and do math at grade level by 2014 or face sanctions by the federal government, such as the elimination of Title I funds to schools and school districts which consistently fail to meet AYP (Education Law Center, 2010). *Omniscient knowledge*: Knowledge that is given by those in authority (Schommer-Aikins, 2004).

*Quick learning*: The belief that learning is not linked to repetitive practice (Schommer-Aikins, 2004).

School Quality Rating Policy (SQRP) rating: –The performance rating of elementary and high schools in the target LMA. Schools are rated as Level 1, 2 or 3 (Chicago Public Schools, 2017). Furthermore, each level is further subdivided into two levels. Thus, Level 1 has two levels and so forth. Level 1 is the highest performance rating, and Level 3 is the lowest (Chicago Public Schools, 2017).*Simple knowledge*: The belief that knowledge is characterized by facts (Schommer-Aikins, 2004).

### Assumptions

There were four general assumptions of this study. First, I assumed that all adults have beliefs about the nature of knowledge and learning even if they are unaware of them (see Schraw et al., 2017). Second, I assumed that principals have a major impact on the school meeting local school success standards. A third assumption was that K-8 principals would be honest and forthcoming with their responses on the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory. Finally, I assumed that the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory would accurately measure the epistemological beliefs of principals in an LMA.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

In this research study, I focused on the epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals in an LMA area. My specific focus was on LMA elementary school principals. I asked participating principals who had served at an elementary school for 2 or more years to take the Schommer–Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory. The delimitations of the study included the sample size of 51 principals. This study sample was a convenience sample and was contained to an LMA school system. Any conclusion about the relationship to epistemological beliefs and SQRP is confined to the target LMA school system. There may be implications from the findings of this study that can be applied to similar urban school districts with similar characteristics to an LMA school system. For example, this LMA was located in the United States and has a diverse ethnic group population. So, the results of this study may potentially be generalized to a similar urban school district in the United States.

## Limitations

There are several possible limitations of this study related to sample and methodology. First, although I included all 111 schools in the LMA in the sampling frame, I used a convenience sampling approach to select principal participants. This means that the final sample may not be representative of the total population. Therefore, the convenience sample may limit the projectability of results. Also, because the total population size is only 111, there is a possibility that the response rate may be low enough to adversely affect statistical power, which would lower my ability to detect statistically significant results if they actually existed in the real world (Fields,2018).

## Significance

NCLB (2001) called for all children in the United States to be able to read and do math at grade level by 2014. All schools had to make AYP toward those goals or face

sanctions from the U.S. Department of Education. One of the driving forces behind the sanctions was the idea that the nation's security was imperiled by the failure of the educational system to produce citizens who could compete globally (Friedman,2020). Since the enactment of the 2001 NCLB legislation, AYP has been established as the national measure of success for elementary and high schools (Friedman,2020). However, with the enactment of ESSA (2015) legislation, the formula and content of the AYP mandate was left up to the states to determine. As such, principals are the main driving force behind school success. In the target LMA, due to poor academic performance and/or underutilization, over 50 schools have been closed as of 2015. Many of the schools that were closed had failed to meet AYP for more than 3 years. The consequences of not meeting AYP have made principal leadership a major concern. Breger (2017) found that few schools in a LMAwere meeting AYP standards.

The principal is the educational leader of a school. Personal epistemological beliefs of principals are important because they are the matrix out of which decisions are enacted within the school (Green,2018). The cumulative decisions and actions made by the principal affect the meeting of annual goals (Green,2018). Therefore, improving school performance may be impacted by understanding the personal epistemological beliefs about leadership of K-8 principals. Green (2018) found that principal-driven school improvement affects community development within neighborhoods where a school is located. Improving school performance by increasing knowledge of the role that leadership epistemological beliefs play in school success could have the social impact of economic reinvestment in troubled communities across the United States.

#### Summary

The landmark 2001 NCLB legislation mandated that all students in a U.S. elementary to secondary school both read and do math at grade level by 2014 (Flores, 2017). Although the Obama administration sought changes in the reauthorization act, ESSA, the fundamental 2001 NCLB framework remains in place. Schools that fail to make AYP for 2 or more years are required to undergo a school improvement process, which many states have adopted (Friedman, 2020). AYP was the national performance measure for schools. However, new performance measures and AYP standards under the ESSA (2015) legislation are under the purview of states. In the target LMA, schools are evaluated based on SQRP rating. Principals remain the main driving force behind school success. The ultimate end of the reform process is either an improved school or a school that has been restructured or closed. In many urban school districts, such as LMA schools, school closings for academic performance or underutilization can be traced back to the 2001 NCLB legislation (Friedman, 2020). SQRP formula is a tier-based formula. When schools are rated as Level 2 below the 50th percentile and require provisional or intensive support for 2 or more years, parents have the choice to send their students to schools with higher SQRP ratings. This results in a draining of the school's resources (Steinberg et al., 2017). As students leave, budgets shrink, teachers may be laid off, and the school ma close.

Thus, in the post-NCLB 2015 era, schools are closed through attrition versus the top-down closings that were typical of the 2001 NCLB period. Vouchers and parental choice for school, rather than federal intervention, underpin changes to schools.

Leadership therefore is an important variable to examine. Leadership is a critical factor and predictor of school success (Schechter & Shaked, 2017). Buske and Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia (2019) found that epistemological beliefs have a limited impact on how principals use data within their schools to achieve success. Thus, understanding the relationship of K-8 personal epistemological beliefs and the yearly SQRP rating can have a significant impact on school improvement and the implementation of ESSA (2015) state guidelines.

Chapter 2 includes a literature review that is relevant to the purpose of this study. I examine the epistemological theories of Perry (1999), Hofer (2001), and Schommer-Aikins (1994). In addition, I review current and relevant literature on how the epistemological beliefs of principals influence leadership decisions and the achievement of Level 1 or 2 status. The relevant literature includes several studies that are seminal to the goals of this study. These studies by Arredondo and Rucinski (1998) and Varaki (2004), and Seales (2011) address the relationship between epistemological beliefs and principal leadership.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

#### Introduction

In this quantitative correlational study, I examined whether there was a relationship between epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals in LMUSD and school success as measured by the School Quality Rating Policy (SQRP) rating. A better understanding of this relationship could help educational leaders to improve student achievement, principal selection, and overall school improvement. Epistemological beliefs are linked to student achievement from elementary school through high school (Schraw et al., 2017). Student achievement, specifically in elementary school, is also affected by principal leadership (Buske & Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, 2019). Buske and Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia (2019) and Herring (2018) both concluded that more research needs to be done to illuminate the impact of principal beliefs on how data is used within schools to achieve success. I conducted this study to address this gap in the literature.

Chapter 2 of this study contains a review of the epistemological theories from three major seminal researchers in the field of personal epistemology: Perry (1999), Hofer (1997, 2002) and Schommer-Aikins (1994). Perry (1999) pioneered the study of epistemological beliefs and was the first researcher to associate epistemological beliefs to student achievement. Both Hofer (1997, 2002) and Schommer-Aikins (2004) connected epistemological beliefs to student achievement at the primary and secondary levels. Thus, all three researchers were relevant to this investigation. Also, this chapter includes a review of seminal studies that directly relate to the purpose of this study. In the literature review, I also examine the current literature on personal epistemology, the achievement of AYP through principal leadership, and NCLB and AYP requirements under the new ESSA (2015) guidelines. In the chapter, I also review the literature search strategy.

# **Literature Search Strategy**

I used the databases Education Source and Academic Search Complete to search for relevant data. The search terms *epistemological belief*, *achievement*, *leadership*, *learning*, *metacognition*, *methodology*, *self-regulation*, and *teaching* were used to find relevant research. I examined the relationship of epistemological belief in the achievement of AYP. Between the years 2017 to 2021, there were 31 search results for epistemological beliefs and achievement, leadership learning, and teaching. When I used related search terms, such as *epistemic beliefs*, *personal epistemology*, and *beliefs about knowledge*, I found that the resulting literature generally was from the same cluster of researchers. The same researchers seem to dominate the research within this area. Furthermore, the research did not focus on epistemological beliefs of principal leadership.

The search covered the period from January 2017 to November 2021. The goal was to find current peer-reviewed research on epistemological beliefs and leadership and principal or administrative leadership. When combining the terms *epistemological beliefs* and *principal* and *administrator*, I found few studies that were published within the past 5 years. There is a plethora of research on the relationship between epistemological beliefs and teaching practices and other topics (Schraw,2017).; however, I found none on the relationship between epistemological beliefs and a principal's leadership. I used ProQuest Academic Completeand Emerald Management databases to search for literature. The

ProQuest search of epistemological beliefs and leadership yielded 1,168 results for 2016 through 2021. These results yielded research on epistemological beliefs connected to domain research, teaching, and students. In searching the Emerald management database, I used the search descriptors *principal's use of data* and *data-driven leadership*. The results yielded over 4,000 articles. However, only two were relevant to this study.

The focus of this study was on determining whether epistemological beliefs of K-12 principals predict school success. Thus, I excluded studies that did not address this connection. I used the search phrase *principal's beliefs affect school performance* to examine current research on how principal beliefs impact teacher performance and school success. This yielded research that was indirectly related to this study. These studies focused on self-efficacy, perceptions about curriculum, and beliefs about leadership style. This research showed that beliefs that principals hold impact both teacher performance and school-wide success. This provided ancillary support to the focus of this study, which was the impact that epistemological beliefs of principals, as measured by Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory, have on leadership that leads to school success.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

Personal epistemology is a cross-discipline study of an individual's beliefs about the nature of knowledge and the process of knowing (Hofer & Pintrich, 2002). As such, it is considered a psychological construct (Hofer, 2010). Perry (1968, 1999), Hofer (2010), and Schommer-Aikins (2004) applied personal epistemology to the study of academic achievement at all levels of school. Although the study of epistemological beliefs began with Perry's (1999) seminal study of college freshmen, scholars in the field currently investigate individual epistemological beliefs of children and adults (Perry,1999).. Personal epistemology relates to the present study because I examined the epistemological beliefs of principal's leaders at the K-8 level as they contribute to school progress. I chose the K-8 educational level for examination because student success in elementary school is a predictor of high success (Schommer-Aikins,2004). Table 1 displays the research interest and focus of several scholars within the field.

# Table 1

Epistemological Models and Units of Analysis

Epistemological model	Unit of analysis
Baxter Magolda (2004)	College and adults
King and Kitchener (1994)	Elementary through graduate school
Perry (1968,1999)	College students
Schommer-Aikins (2004)	Middle, high school, and college

There are many terms used to describe individual beliefs about knowledge. These

include

- epistemological or epistemic beliefs (Hofer & Pintrich, 1997; Schommer-Aikins, 1994)
- reflective judgment (King & Kitchener, 2004).
- ways of knowing (Schommer-Aikins & Easter, 2009)
- epistemological reflection (King & Kitchener, 2004)
- personal epistemology (Hofer, 1997).

The dominant terms within the literature are personal epistemology and epistemological

beliefs (Schommer-Aikins, 1990, 2004). In addition, several definitions within the

scholarly literature describe an individual's beliefs about knowledge and the knowing

process. Table 2 includes definitions for the various epistemological terms.

# Table 2

Term	Definition	Source
Epistemological or	Individuals' conception of	Brownlee et al. (2008)),
Epistemic belief	knowledge and knowing.	Hofer & Pintrich (1997)
	Individuals' belief about	Schommer-Aikins (1994),
	the nature of knowledge	
	and knowing process.	
	An individual's beliefs	
	about knowledge and the	
	knowing process.	
Reflective Judgment	The way individuals	King and Kitchener (2004)
	validate and justify their	
W/ Cl ·	knowledge.	
ways of knowing	women's beliefs about	Schommer-Alkins and
	knowledge and the	Easter (2009)
Enistemalogical reflection	A sumption's individuals	Ving & Vitabanar (2004)
Epistemological reflection	held about the nature of	King & Kitchenel $(2004)$
	knowledge	
	A student understanding	
	about the nature of his/her	
	knowledge and knowing	
Personal epistemology	An individual's belief	Hofer & Pintrich (1997)
i ensenai epistennoiogy	about knowledge and the	
	knowing process.	
Personal epistemology	knowledge A student understanding about the nature of his/her knowledge and knowing. An individual's belief about knowledge and the knowing process.	Hofer & Pintrich (1997)

Definitions of Epistemological Terms

*Note*. These sources represent the seminal researchers in the field of epistemological belief studies.

The common element in all these definitions is that personal epistemology is a set of beliefs that individuals hold about how we come to know and the nature of that knowledge. It is generally accepted among researchers that those beliefs included the source, certainty, and structure of knowledge (Hofer, 2006). Schommer-Aikins (1994) later added ideas about learning to epistemological beliefs.

# Perry

William Perry was the pioneer researcher of epistemological beliefs. According to Hofer (1997), Perry discovered, through his investigation of college freshman at Harvard University in the early 1950s, a connection between student academic achievement and epistemological development. As college freshmen at Harvard evolved in their studies, their views on knowledge changed. Hofer (1997) stated,

Perry was the first to suggest that how college students made meaning of them educational experiences were not a reflection of personality but an evolving developmental process. He provided an interactionist model for interpreting student's epistemological responses to college environment. A central contribution of the scheme has been the articulation of the dualistic, multiplistic and relativistic points of view that characterize the epistemologestalt outlook of many college students. The popularization of Perry's work has made the teaching of students at these levels more explicable to a generation of college faculty (p.12,13).

Perry (1999) developed his model of epistemological development while at Harvard University as the director of the Bureau of Study Counsel. Perry began studying the experiences of male students at Harvard. He was particularly interested in how students confronted epistemological pluralism while in college. After studying this for
over four years, Perry developed a model of intellectual development which focused on how students understood the nature and origins of knowledge. His original sample had a male bias which later fostered research by feminist researchers. This resulted in the expansion of his model.

Perry's (1999) model was considered a developmental model (Hofer, 2006; Schommer-Aikins, 2004). There is evidence that Perry (1999) did not view his model as developmental. It is, however, widely considered by researchers as developmental (Hofer, 2006). Perry (1999) characterized his model as a form or structure rather than as stages. Perry (1999) stated, "These forms characterize the structures which the students explicitly or implicitly impute the world, especially those structures in which they construe the nature and origins of knowledge, of value and of responsibility" (p.1). Perry's (1999) unit of analysis was college male freshman. Although later researchers would criticize Perry (1999) for this, the rationale for the male focus may have been that males represented a convenience sample. Perry (1999) conducted two longitudinal studies and constructed his developmental scheme from the findings. According to Perry (1999), the theoretical framework for his scheme was derived from two basic sources, Adorno, Frenkel-Brunswik, Levinson & Sanford (1950) and Stern (1953). Adorno et al. (1950) was responsible for research on personality and Stern (1953) developed a belief measurement scale known as A Checklist of Educational Views (CLEV). Perry's (1999) research methodology was based on interviews and a paper and pencil belief inventory administered to a random sample of students from the mid-1950s through the '60s. Subsequent researchers within the field adopted Perry's (1999) methodology. Thus, many researchers in the field of epistemological development have developed epistemological belief surveys. These include the Epistemological Questionnaire (EQ), Epistemic Belief Inventory (EBI) and Epistemological Beliefs Survey (EBS; Schraw, 2013). Schommer-Aikins (2004) stated,

The study of personal epistemology was originally based on in-depth interviews, thick descriptions of students' responses and well-elaborated stage schemes of epistemological development. This research began with Perry (1968) studying Harvard undergraduates. Many researchers who advanced Perry's work continue to use interviews and continue to use thick descriptions of epistemological development (p.19).

Perry (1999) administered the CLEV in 1954 and 1955 to a random sample of 313 students. They were first given the CLEV in 1953 and again in 1954. In addition, they were interviewed. The students were also interviewed. Further studies were conducted in 1962 and 1963 to freshmen. Later in 1962 and 1963, Perry (1999) conducted a similar study on college freshman. These longitudinal studies were the basis of the developmental scheme. The limitation of Perry's (1999) approach was that his conclusions were drawn from a limited sample of male college freshmen at an elite school. These students were not representative of college freshmen across the country. Therefore, any conclusion about epistemological development derived from his model could only be tentative. According to Perry (1999), college students' epistemological stance toward the world progressed from a view where knowledge consists of right or wrong propositions finalized by an authority to a position where evidence for propositions is contextual with evidential standards differing by domains. Also, anyone can be an authority on knowledge depending on expertise, skill and opportunity. Perry (1999) concluded that all students have epistemological positions about the world. Perry's (1999) main contribution was that he was one of the first investigators to connect epistemological development to achievement. However, Perry's (1999) model was limited because it was based on college male freshman at Harvard. Results from Perry's (1999) longitudinal study motivated decades of researchers to seek a concise understanding of the relationship between epistemological beliefs and student achievement.

Perry (1999) conceived of students' epistemological beliefs as part of a broader schema used to organize the student's perception of the world. Perry (1999) stated: "These forms characterize the structures which the students explicitly or implicitly impute to the world" (p.1). Thus, as an organizational perceptual framework, epistemological beliefs provided the foundation for forming and evaluating knowledge claims about the world. Furthermore, the world was expected to conform to the epistemological belief structure. Perry (1999) stated, "in this report, the word "structure refers specifically to the formal properties of the assumptions and expectancies a person holds at a given time regarding the nature and origins of knowledge and value" (p.47). Freshman students who held the naive absolutist position expected professors, as intellectual authorities, to provide them with final answers and facts. The truth value of a statement was based on the authority which pronounced the claim. Perry (1999) found that student achievement was affected by naive epistemic positions because their expectancy that the professor would provide the final answers to questions clashed with the professor's goal of promoting critical thinking and assessment of evidence. Freshman often learned to their consternation that professors would not supply them with final answers. There have been interviews that illustrates how students were often destabilized in their freshman year (Perry, 1999).

Perry (1999) outlined nine epistemic positions that students held in their intellectual development. Perry (1999) proposed a unidimensional model (Duell & Schommer-Aikins 2001). In unidimensional theories of epistemological development, one area of development is dependent on other areas of development. Thus, an individual's development in position influenced development in position six. Developmental epistemological theories generally move from a naive dualism to commitment and then to a contextualistic relativistic view of knowledge. Since the inception of Perry's (1999) scheme, there have many epistemological theories modeled on the developmental scheme. Table 3 outlines the epistemological models developed from Perry's (1999) scheme.

### Table 3

Theorist	Model name
Perry (1999)	Perry's Scheme
Belenky et al. (1986)	Women's Ways of Knowing
Baxter Magolda (1992)	Epistemological reflection model
King & Kitchener (1999)	Reflective Judgment
Kuhn (1991)	Skills of Argument

Developmental Models Associated With Perry's (1999) Work

Note: Table 3 shows from left to right developmental epistemological belief models based on Perry's (1999) original scheme.

Many of the developmental theories outlined in Table 3 were constructed based on reactions to many of the flaws in Perry's (1999) scheme. For example, Belenky et al. (1986) investigated how women develop epistemological beliefs because of the male focus of Perry's (1999) sample. Table 4 maps the epistemological development for each of the nine developmental positions.

# Table 4

<b>Developmental Positions</b>	<b>Epistemological Development</b>
Position one.	Students see world in terms of right and wrong, good vs. bad
Position two.	Student recognizes diversity of opinion, uncertainty, but views situation lack of understanding by authority.
Position three.	Student accepts diversity of opinions as a situation where authorities have not found the right answer.
Position four.	Student understands that there is diversity of opinions but realizes everyone is right to his or her own opinion.
Position five.	Students recognize that all knowledge and values are contextual, relativistic. Right and wrong are viewed as contextual.
Position six.	Student becomes personally committed to viewing world as relativistic.
Position seven.	Student makes an epistemological commitment to some area.
Position eight.	Students experience the real-life implications of position seven.
Position nine.	Position 6, 7, and 8 become part of lifestyle of student, life stance.

#### *Epistemological Development*

Table based on Perry (1999):

Perry's (1999) scheme had nine positions. In Perry's (1999) scheme positions 1, 2 and 3 are the beginning stage of development. At this stage, the student's worldview included the view that knowledge is right or wrong and finalized by an authority, and if opinions on an issue exist, it is because an authority has not settled an issue. Position four is the transition stage where a student recognizes the right of everyone to have an opinion on a matter and may not accept the reasoning of an authority. Positions 5 through 9 the student perceives knowledge to be relative, contextual, and contingent. In positions, 7 through 9 the students make a personal commitment to an area of focus and understand the implications of that commitment to his or her life. Perry (1999) viewed these positions as forms but not necessarily as developmental stages. Schommer-Aikins (2004) would challenge his uni-dimensional model of epistemological development. Hofer (1997) suggested that the notion of development in the Perry (1999). Perry (1999) acknowledged Piaget's influence on his developmental scheme. He stated,

...We could suppose that our development scheme reflects processes ascribed by Piaget to the "period of formal operations." It traces recapitulation (by vertical decalage) of a centrifugal movement, evident in the sensory-motor and concrete operational periods. The movement is away from naive geocentricism to a differentiated awareness of the environment. This awareness reflects to a new and differentiated awareness of self and to make possible a complex dynamic equilibrium between self and environment (p.229).

In Perry's 1999 developmental scheme can be mapped on to Piaget's developmental framework. The student who believes in a dualistic view of knowledge are located at naive egocentrism on Piaget's model (Perry, 1999) Schommer-Aikins (1994, 2004) diverged from Perry's (1999) developmental scheme by proposing a hypothesis that

30

epistemological beliefs are independent. Individual beliefs may change but not developmentally.

There are theoretical issues with Perry's (1999) scheme. Not enough is known about the influence of personality structure or the influence that culture has on the developmental scheme. Perry (1999) does acknowledge that a crucial moment for the student comes when a transition is made from dualism to a relativistic commitment. Perry (1999), unlike Hofer (1997) and Schommer-Aikins (2004), perceived that his study only had indirect relevance to educational policy makers at the post-secondary level. Perry (1999) believed that policy makers could only indirectly affect developmental progress. According to Perry (1999), educators cannot manipulate students to grow. Bendixen et al. (2010) and Hofer (1997) would challenge this idea. Perry's (1999) notion was that epistemological growth could only be accomplished through indirect changes in the curriculum and exposure to the classroom environment. Perry (1999) stated

In our reports, the most difficult instructional moment for the students – and perhaps for the teacher as well – seems to occur at the transition from the conception of knowledge as a quantitative accretion of discrete rightness... to the conception of knowledge as the qualitative assessment of contextual observations and relationships. (p.236)

The nine positions in the Perry (1999) combine knowledge and value. Stages 6 through 9 involve the student making a value commitment to an intellectual position. At this stage, evaluation of knowledge involves a blend of context, observations, and relationships. Thus, knowledge cannot be arbitrated by a single authority. Perry (1999) stated that at

positions eight and nine the students realize that "epistemologically the knower and the known are inseparable. The forms of knowing entwine with the forms of known and this involvement include the forms of the knower's responsibility" (p.238). Therefore, educators cannot manipulate growth through the positional stages. Therefore Perry (1999) concludes that educators at the post-secondary level can only have an indirect effect on the growth of the student through the developmental stages. Perry (1999) stated: "Confirmation of the growing person in any community is a matter of art, and in large part implicit" (p.240). This is important because Perry's (1999) map of epistemic development was not intended to directly, through policy actions, alter college curriculum. The natural experience of a liberal arts curriculum would help the student to evolve.

Perry's (1999) model is limited by two important factors: its scheme was not based on representative samples of college students across the country but from longitudinal studies from male-only Harvard freshmen and its lack of recommendations for action to address students' epistemological development. These deficiencies motivated further researchers to investigate epistemological development from the child to the adult (Hofer, 2001). Schommer-Aikins (1991, 2001, and 2004) the findings represent a significant break from Perry's model 1999) because of six innovations:

- 1. Epistemic development includes beliefs about knowledge.
- 2. Epistemological beliefs are distinctly identifiable beliefs.
- 3. Epistemic beliefs are independent and may not develop together.
- 4. Epistemic beliefs should be balanced.

5. The term epistemological belief or epistemic belief.

6. Quantitative methodology to investigate epistemic beliefs.

Schommer-Aikins (2004) recommended that college-level faculty directly assess students' epistemological beliefs. Schommer-Aikins (2003) stated, "Since student's epistemological beliefs can change over time and academic experience (Perry1999; Schommer 2004), college faculty may want to assess students' epistemological beliefs" (p.364).

### **Schommer-Aikins**

Schommer-Aikins' (2004) central contribution to the field of epistemological research was her introduction of the multidimensional epistemological belief framework and the idea that epistemological beliefs could be measured quantitatively. There were several epistemological belief surveys (Duell & Schommer-Aikins, 2001). Also, several researchers introduced versions of epistemological belief assessments that were modifications of Schommer-Aikins (2001, 2004) epistemological questionnaire.

In 1991, Schommer-Aikins proposed a quantitative model of assessing epistemological beliefs that were based on five features of an epistemological belief system that distinguished it from previous models. The Schommer-Aikins (2004) innovation was to add beliefs about learning and the identification of distinct beliefs about knowing. Schommer-Aikins (2004) hypothesized five beliefs about knowledge and learning. These hypothesized beliefs were to become the basis of her quantitative assessment of epistemological beliefs. Table 5 shows Schommer-Aikins (2001, 2004) five hypothesized beliefs that became the basis of the 63-epistemological belief

questionnaire.

### Table 5

Epistemological belief	Meaning
Stability of knowledge	Unchanging to permanent
Structure of knowledge	Isolated facts to integrated whole
Source of knowledge	Omniscient authority to evidence for
	belief
Speed of Learning	Knowledge is gained quickly or gradually
Ability to Learn	Fixed ability to learn vs. learned through
	education

Table 5 illustrates the five epistemological beliefs (left column) and the meaning (right column).

Each one of these beliefs was a distinct entity. Therefore, individuals would be measured as to the effect of an independent belief on an aspect of learning or some other academic achievement. This was a direct contrast to the research program of Perry (1968, 1998). Later researchers could use the Schommer-Aikins (1998) model to identify the power of specific beliefs. This also added to the idea of asynchronous development. Individual's beliefs may not necessarily develop together. This was a revolutionary departure from the stage models of previous researchers (Duell et al. 2001).

Schommer-Aikins (2004) also introduced the idea of epistemological belief. The idea of belief had not been used by previous researchers. Perry (1999) used scheme and developmental positions. Schommer-Aikins (2004) introduction of belief into the personal epistemology field was justified by Schommer-Aikins (2004) claiming an

individual's personal epistemology resembled a belief system. Schommer-Aikins (2004) stated, "The reasoning behind this was that personal epistemology seems to have many characteristics that are typically ascribed to beliefs in general" (p.21).

Schommer-Aikins (2004) developed a 63-question inventory to assess the hypothesized beliefs. Also, the inventory was tested psychometrically (Schommer-Aikins, 1990). Schommer-Aikins (1990) factor analysis results were: Structure of knowledge .79, source and certainty of knowledge .68 and speed of knowledge .62. The questionnaire was later modified by Schommer-Aikins (2004) and other researchers (Jehng, Johnson & Anderson, 1993; Schraw, Bendixen & Dunkle, 2002). DeBacker et al. (2008) challenged Schommer-Aikins (2004) and other belief inventories as containing components that measured learning instead of epistemological beliefs. DeBacker et al. (2008) concerns will be addressed in a later section of this review.

Schommer-Aikins (2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory is considered the most widely used and adapted questionnaire within the field of personal epistemology (Schraw et al., 2017). This makes the Schommer-Aikins (2004) Epistemological Belief Questionnaire important. Schommer-Aikins (2004) introduced several innovations in the field of personal epistemology. The following literature review examines the scholarly literature that Schommer-Aikins (1989) has contributed to the field epistemological belief based on contributions to the field.

# Hofer

Hofer (1997) had been primarily concerned with theoretical and methodological issues within the field. Also, Hofer's (1997) research interest involved translating

epistemological research to the primary and secondary level of education. Hofer (1997) investigated three central issues in the field of personal epistemology: dimensions of epistemology theories, domain differences in epistemological theories and how college students interpret instructional practices epistemologically. Hofer's (1997) research has raised many issues in the field of personal epistemology. One of which is the call for more clarity in the construct. Hofer (2005) stated, "The primary issue raised in our initial article on the topic was the nature of the construct including concepts about naming, definition, construct boundaries and dimensions." (p.98). Hofer (2005) acknowledged that four dimensions of epistemological belief were widely accepted within the field of personal epistemology: certainty and simplicity of knowledge and the source and justification of knowledge. The speed of learning and quick learning has been challenged as measuring epistemological beliefs by Hofer (2005) and other researchers as measuring epistemological beliefs. Hofer (2006) concluded that epistemological beliefs have domain-specific aspects. Disciplines are partly distinguished from one another by different standards of evidence which determines what is accepted as knowledge within the discipline.

Although epistemological beliefs of individuals generally develop from naive to relative or contextual, that development for the individual is shaped by exposure to the epistemological rules and goals of disciplines. The issue of domain specificity has implications for this study because principals are managers and therefore participate in the domain of management and leadership. If epistemological development of individuals is influenced by exposure to the epistemological demands of specific disciplines, then

epistemological development of principals may be influenced by the epistemological requirements of leadership and management. Senge (1990) acknowledged this point in his model of leadership. He concluded that mental models affect how problems and decisions are framed within organizations.

# Summary

In conclusion Perry (1968, 1999), Schommer-Aikins (2004), and Hofer (1997) contributed to the main currents within the field of epistemological beliefs and are relevant to this investigation because of the connection made between epistemological beliefs and student achievement. Both Schommer-Aikins (1990, 2000, and 2001) and Hofer (1997, 2005) advocated that the findings of epistemological research be used to promote student and achievement at the primary and secondary level and to improve the teaching practice. Perry (1999), pioneer of epistemological belief research, connected student achievement and epistemological development.

Schommer-Akins's (2004) findings were that epistemic development includes beliefs about knowledge, epistemological beliefs are distinct, identifiable beliefs, epistemic beliefs are independent and may not develop together, epistemic beliefs should be balanced, the term epistemological belief or epistemic belief and quantitative methodology to investigate epistemic beliefs. Schommer-Aikins (2004) also introduces the first quantitative epistemic belief measurement (Clarebout et al., 2001). It is the most widely used epistemological belief instrument used in research (Schraw, 2013). Hofer (2005) raised concerns about the methodology and theory development of the field. In addition, Hofer (1997) proposed translating epistemological research to the primary and secondary levels. Hofer et al. (1997) connected student achievement at all levels of education to epistemological development. Furthermore, Wildenger et al. (2010) proposed modifying teaching practices based on the findings of researchers.

The findings of Perry (1999), Schommer-Aikins (2001) and Hofer (2005) support the conclusion that epistemological beliefs are an important factor in student achievement. Hofer (2002) specifically advocated the idea that student achievement could be improved by understanding the epistemological beliefs of students and teachers in elementary and high school. Hofer's (2001)'s findings support the idea that epistemological beliefs of teachers and students are linked to the achievement of school success.

Perry (1999), Hofer (1997), and Schommer-Aikins (1994) represent the seminal research in the domain of epistemological beliefs. Their findings did not make a connection to student achievement and the achievement of school success by principal leadership. Hofer (2005) and Schommer-Aikins (2004) collectively found that epistemological beliefs affect comprehension of secondary students. Moreover, teachers' epistemological beliefs affect student achievement at all levels. However, neither Hofer (2002) nor Schommer-Aikins (2004) related their findings to the influence of principal leadership, epistemological belief, and student achievement.

# Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts

Markauskaite and Goodyear (2017) provided a wide theoretical overview of how epistemic tools "provide form and structure to professional ways of knowing" (p. 369).

Regarding what can be considered epistemic tools, Markauskaite and Goodyear stated the following:

By "epistemic tools" we mean all classes of material and symbolic activities, including those employed in human discourses, that are used to shape inquiry and knowledge -producing action. In professional learning and work settings, this includes structuring resources, and other tools that shape professional inquirysuch as concepts, standards, frames of inquiry, heuristics, and codes, as well as other knowledge resources as external media. (p. 242).

Markauskaite and Goodyear provided a broad critique of personal epistemological research. In short, they acknowledge that more research needs to be done on the differences between the notion of "epistemic" and epistemological beliefs. In their words "more research needs to be done on how to "provide a richer insight into how personal epistemic understandings are intertwined with knowing in situated activities" (p.169). However, despite their critique, Markauskaite and Goodyear concluded that studies in the field of personal epistemology have established that personal epistemology affects the following areas: problem-solving, learning task, complex problem solving, judgment, and innovation. Figure 1 provides an overview of epistemic tools. I created the illustration based on the work of Markauskaite and Goodyear.

# Figure 1

Epistemic Tools



Four out of 17 epistemic tool relationships are identified. These relationships are important for understanding the role that epistemology may play in principals' personal epistemological frames that contribute to their decision-making processes in schools that have an SPQR rating of 1 or 2 in the LUA schools. Personal epistemological frames of professionals may influence sense-making capacities of principals as far as it relates to complex problem solving and judgment. A deficiency in most studies is that little is known about the role that epistemological frames affect how principals make decisions which result in school success, in any context. This dissertation seeks to add insight into this area.

### **AYP and Leadership**

Leal-Soto and Ferrer-Urbina (2017) administered a Spanish version of the Epistemic Belief inventory to 1,785 Chilean high school students. Leal - Soto et al. (2017) concluded that a three-factor model was confirmed, and reliability was comparable to other studies. Furthermore, the results of this study reveal several problems with measuring epistemological beliefs. Leal-Soto et al. (2017) stated,

...this evidence questions the usefulness of the EBI to properly address epistemic beliefs; rather, it could be considered to provide an approach to the evaluation of the embedder systemic model of epistemic beliefs proposed by Schommer-Aikins, incorporating the distinction between beliefs about knowledge and beliefs about learning, and distinguishing the relational dimension, that in the case of the EBI, assimilates to disposition toward authority, which can be understood as a relational factor that influences the second-hand evaluation proposed by Bromme, Kienhues and Porsch. This fact has theoretical relevance since it provides evidence that supports Schommer-Aikins' reformulation of his model, moving from the schema of epistemological beliefs that include beliefs about learning, to a model that distinguishes the strictly epistemological beliefs from beliefs about learning and other beliefs such as those about the relational dimension involved in evaluating knowledge from sources external to the subject, highlighted by. (p.16)

Thus, there are issues with the stability of administering epistemic belief inventories. Leal-Soto et al. (2017) investigated 29 belief instruments designed to measure Schommer -Aikins epistemological belief model. Leal-Soto et al. (2017) found that all belief inventories had issues with the epistemological five-factor model that made epistemological inventories as administered in research studies difficult to integrate into the research. Leal-Soto et al. (2017) focused on the Epistemological Belief Inventory (EBI). This inventory was designed to reform some of the psychometric issues with the original EQ model. The EBI model is five-dimensional as the original EQ model. However, those five dimensions are reformulated as a source of omniscient authority, quick learning, simple knowledge, and innate ability. Leal - Soto et al. (2017) recommends that researchers administering epistemic belief questionnaires make it clear as what dimensions are being used and all the items being used. This study is relevant to the literature evaluation because it shows the complications and problems in measuring epistemic beliefs when also connecting other variables to the measure. In addition, Leal-Soto et al. (2017) high light a limitation of most studies using epistemological inventories. They were conducted both in and out of U.S. on mostly students. Thus, many of the conclusions obtained from these studies are very difficult to integrate and create a unified model of epistemological beliefs. The purpose of the cross-validation study was to establish an instrument that can be used by researchers and to foster the integration and comparison of findings of multiple studies. Instead of dismissing the epistemic belief inventories, Leal - Soto et al. (2017) state that users of this instrument need to make it clear what dimensions of the inventory are being used. Doing this will make the evaluation of results more reliable. This study is important to this investigation because Leal-Soto's study highlights issues with epistemological belief inventories and possible research strategies to overcome them. Additionally, Leal-Soto identifies the limitation of

most epistemological belief studies that have been administered to students. This study broadens the reach of epistemological belief studies by administering the EQ to principals of k-8 public schools.

Steinberg and Cox (2017) assessed the reform efforts over fifteen years. His guiding question was, how effective have reform efforts been? An answer to this question could provide both policy makers and practitioners with information on how to further develop effective strategies for reform in urban districts. Steinberg et al. (2017) stated that one of the purposes of his research was to "provide information to policy makers and practitioners serving students in urban school districts, we document examples of policy reforms in urban school settings that show promise as effective strategies" (p.192). Steinberg et al., (2017) outlined four actionable "take aways" for both policy makers and practitioners: one. Early childhood education needs to have qualified teachers, 2. School districts need to embrace teacher evaluation systems that provide teachers with detailed feedback during post-observation conferences 3. High stakes testing should be continued. However, more emphasis should be placed on teacher effective use of data. Some choicebased reforms work and should be examined. (Steinberg et al., 2017). Steinberg (2017) addresses the issue of high stakes testing and the side effects of using them. However, he concludes that because teachers need to be data-driven, there are no alternatives which provide data to teachers other than test. Steinberg's et al. (2017) focus in some way on teachers: qualified teachers; teacher evaluation systems; teachers using data to guide instruction. None of the Steinberg et al. (2017) "takeaways" focus on leadership factors that affect AYP.

Saleem and Fayyaz (2017) examined whether there was a relationship between epistemological development using the Perry (999) model and age, wisdom, gender, and education. He used a convenience sample of 83 men and 67 women. Saleem et al. (2017) found that there was a positive correlation between epistemological development and age, wisdom, and education. However, he found that age was not significantly correlated with young adults and middle-aged adults. This study further supports the notion that epistemology beliefs affect adult behavior. This indirectly supports the purpose of this dissertation which is to examine the relationship of epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals with school success. How do principals' epistemological beliefs factor into school success? The results of Spiess (2017) shows that both mindset and epistemic beliefs are predictors for cultural proficiency development. Spies (2017) suggest that human resources measure candidates' mindset and epistemic beliefs.

## Relevance

This study was relevant for this review of the literature because it links personal epistemological beliefs to cultural proficiency and then recommends that personal epistemological beliefs are measured by human resource departments when hiring. This study used the personal epistemological framework of Schraw (2002). Spiess (2017) states, "All questions were taken directly from the Epistemological Beliefs Inventory (Schraw et al., 2002). Schraw et al. identified this domain as omniscient authority, here it is being represented as a source of knowledge." (p.53). Thus, Spiess (2017) recommends administering the Epistemological Belief Inventory to prospective teachers. Furthermore, Spiess (2017) concludes that source of knowledge is the predictor for cultural proficiency

development. This study, as others cited in this review of the literature, shows that epistemological beliefs of individuals influence many areas of one's professional life.

Aydin, Selcuk, and Cakmak (2018) studied the canonical correlation between preservice teachers, life-long learning, and epistemological beliefs. They found that epistemological beliefs and lifelong learning beliefs were canonically correlated with an effect size of 34%. This is important for this dissertation because it shows that epistemological beliefs are a significant predictor of life- long learning. This conclusion indirectly supports that need for understanding the effects of epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals and school success. If epistemological beliefs affect lifelong learning goals, then it could easily affect other areas such as principals' school-wide decision making behavior.

Getahun, Saroyan, and Aulls (2016) investigated undergraduate students' conception of inquiry in relationship to epistemic belief differences. Getahun et al. (2016) administered two questionnaires to 80 females and 27 male students. One questionnaire was an open-ended questionnaire, and the other was the Schommer epistemological belief questionnaire. The study showed a relationship between epistemic beliefs and inquiry. Getahun et al. (2016) conclude that because epistemic beliefs are a factor in inquiry among students, epistemic beliefs should be measured. This study is important for two reasons. It, like others, shows the relevance of using Schommer's (2002) Epistemological inventory to measure epistemic beliefs, and its relevance is shown as far as Getahun (2016) recommends measuring the epistemological beliefs of students

45

Chiu, Liang, Hou, and Tsai (2016) extended the study of epistemic beliefs to those of medical students as epistemic beliefs relate to medical knowledge. Chiu et al. (2016) found "that it may be beneficial for medical educators to better understand medical students' epistemic beliefs regarding medicine" (p.1). Chiu et al. (2016) administered the Medical Specific Epistemic Beliefs Questionnaire (MSEB) to 340 medical students in Taiwan. The MSEB was validated using structural equation modeling, confirmatory factor analysis, and path analysis. Chiu et al. (2016) found that students with multi-source knowledge beliefs were suspicious of medical knowledge transmitted from authorities. Chiu et al. (2016) concluded that epistemic beliefs affected students' approaches to study medicine. Chiu et al. (2016) stated,

...it was found that medical students with sophisticated epistemic beliefs (e.g., suspecting knowledge from medical experts) did not necessarily engage in deep approaches to learning medicine. Instead of a deep approach, medical students with sophisticated epistemic beliefs in uncertain and justifying medical knowledge intended to employ a flexible approach and a mixed approach, respectively. (p.1)

Chiu et al. (2016) were important to this research because this study shows that epistemic beliefs affect how medical students make decisions about what authorities to accept. This shows that epistemic beliefs have a wide-ranging effect from teacher instruction to student learning in any context. The context may shift in terms of subject matter, but the impact of epistemic beliefs on decision making, problem-solving, and learning, in general, is significant. Buske and Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia (2019) found that principals and teachers have a core power relationship in which teachers are inclined to mimic the leadership style and demands of the principal. This teacher mimicking, among other things, how principals use data with their schools to make decisions. This fact makes it important to understand the influences that impact how principals make decisions. Buske and Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia (2019) concluded that there is not enough understanding on what factors determine how principals use data. Buske and Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia (2019) stated, "Epistemological beliefs are of particular importance for the successful implementation of knowledge in real life situations (p.6)." Thus, Buske (2019) identified epistemological beliefs an important and legitimate factor that must be understood in principal decision making within schools.

Buske (2019) based their hypothesis around two central notions: principals who held immature epistemological beliefs were less inclined to use external data in their decision making. The corollary to this was that principals with mature beliefs would be inclined to use external data. They selected 297 principals from 153 schools using structured equation modeling. They found that epistemological beliefs and attitudes towards evidence had a slight impact on how data was used. This study is important to this dissertation because it shows the relevance of epistemological beliefs as an object of study in principal leadership. Furthermore, this study shows that a significant understanding of how principal decisions leading to successful schools can be gained from linking epistemological beliefs to effective leadership.

Breger (2017) found that family income has long been considered an important and critical factor in student achievement. However, Breger (2017) concludes that there

47

are additional factors which also impact student achievement: school size and attendance. Breger (2017) states.

The results of this analysis provide some clear evidence that achievement of schools in the Chicago Public School district is highly correlated with poverty. Test scores are significantly lower for impoverished schools, indicating that these schools face higher pressure to meet state standards than neighboring schools with students from higher income homes. Chicago makes an interesting case study in determining how family income correlates with urban education. We are motivated to think about how thousands of students could benefit from administrative policies that attempt to raise achievement despite the economic hardships their students face. (p.213)

Breger acknowledges that Chicago Public Schools (CPS) is unique because poverty has a significant impact on student achievement. This is very important because many of the reform measures focus on the impact that teachers have on students regarding classroom instruction. Failing schools are often blamed on teacher practices and principal leadership. AYP remains a significant factor in school closings. Breger (2017) stated,

Evaluating school performance in terms of "good" or "bad" might help us understand how schools react to state and federal standards. For example, we can see that out of 455 schools that have reported AYP, only about 57 schools have met this standard in the year 2013. This low number means that a great majority of the schools in CPS are "failing" and face consequences like the restructuring of the school (i.e., curriculum, teaching staff, administration changes), which would be very costly. Even worse, schools that fail to meet AYP face losing government financial support. (p.209)

Breger's (2017) research was important because it shows that student achievements in the LMUSD are linked to poverty, which can be addressed by policies of local, state, and federal government but is not in direct connection to instruction. Breger (2017) shows that reaching AYP may be connected to the level of poverty. This research has further importance to this study because it shows that AYP is an effect variable that, in this study, is linked to poverty. However, if AYP is an effect variable, how do epistemic beliefs affect the decisions principals make which lead to school success.

Winberg et al. (2018) studied the connection between students' epistemic beliefs and achievement. Their study is in the mainstream of most epistemological belief research. The focus is usually on teaching or the effect of epistemological belief on student behavior. Winberg et al. (2018) conducted a three-year cross-sectional longitudinal study of students in the age range of 5-11. They found that there was a weak connection between epistemological beliefs and achievement goals. Winberg et al. (2018) stated,

This study's results show that the relationship between EB and AG is not straightforward. Though naïve beliefs were in general associated with performance goals and sophisticated beliefs with mastery goals, this relationship did not apply for all beliefs and for all grades. (p.14)

Although the results of this study indicated a weak correlation between epistemological beliefs and student achievement goals, it did show that there was a positive relationship

between sophisticated beliefs about justification with mastery goals and performance goals were positively correlated with performance goals. This study shows that epistemological beliefs have a complex and dynamic impact on behavior. This further supports the purpose of this dissertation which is to understand how epistemological beliefs of principals as a factor in school success.

Schechter et al. (2017) conducted a qualitative study of 59 school principals in Israel on how school reform implementation affected them. Although the study was conducted in Israel, the findings about the impact of school reform measures and the role principals play within the school are consistent with principals within the U.S. Schechter, et al. (2017) view principals as mediating agents of reform. Reform measures success depends on how well they are embraced and implemented by the principal. Schechter et al. (2017) stated: "A school principal may be seen as the one who stands at the actual doorstep, between the extra and intra school worlds" (p.243). The authors of this study found that principals must negotiate their way through three general realities, they must adjust to the existing realities, care for teachers, and use discretion. As mid-level policymakers, Schechter et al. (2017) conclude that principals leave their "fingerprints" on the policies they must implement. The notion that principals are midlevel policymakers whose fingerprints are on the very policies they implement shows the power and importance of principals. This study is important for this dissertation because it supports and reinforces the need to understand the role that epistemological beliefs of principals play in day to day decisions which lead to successful schools.

Flores (2017) provided a critique of what she views as "neoliberal" reform policies and how they have endangered the existence of public schools in the U.S. Flores (2017) acknowledges that NCLB act and subsequent reform ESSA act of 2015 have given parents more choice. However, they have not, in her view, given parents the High-Quality education promised. In this critique, Flores (2017) poses the question given the data showing that charter schools have not lived up to their promise, what is the purpose of them? Her answer as stated is to "provide a set of skills that will allow them to enter the workforce at the bottom taking low paying jobs..." (p.2). Flores's (2017) suggested that people must demand that their local and national governments make the necessary changes so that every child receives that high-quality education which will make their choices in life more effective. This critique is important for this dissertation because it provides a history of the impact of the NCLB and ESSA educational reforms. It also shows the side effects of well-intended legislation.

Schraw et al. (2017) reviewed over 40 years of research on teachers' personal epistemology. He begins with a definition of personal epistemology, which draws from Hofer et al. (2002). He states, "Personal epistemology is concerned with the origin, nature, limits, methods, and justification of human knowledge. It relates the beliefs and cognitions an individual holds about the nature of knowledge and knowing..." (p.4). He acknowledges that understanding teachers' epistemologies helps to understand "classroom instruction, which in turn influences how teachers learn" ... (p.4). There are five themes on personal epistemology highlighted in this volume.

First, teachers should acquire an epistemological lens. This epistemological lens enhances their teaching reflections. Second, understanding one's conceptual filters will make one more proficient in their craft. Third, epistemological development and change can be very slow. Fourth, it matters if we can change our epistemological views and finally, using evidence in the classroom helps us to develop our epistemologies. This text is significant to this dissertation because it provides support for the impact of epistemological beliefs of teachers on students. Furthermore, the text shows the importance and value of having teachers develop their epistemologies. Over the years there has been little research done in the area of the impact of principals' epistemological belief on overall school success. The only research done on epistemological beliefs of principals or administrators was done by the following researchers: Arredondo and Rucinski (1998), Varaki (2003), Seals (2011). Thus, Schraw et al.'s (2017) volume surveying 40 years of research on teacher's epistemology supports the rationale for this dissertation. Through focusing on the epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals, this investigation will add additional knowledge to the principal leadership factors which influence the achievement of school success.

#### **Summary and Conclusions**

In this section, the seminal personal epistemological theories of Perry (1999), Hofer (2001) and Schommer-Aikins (2004) were reviewed. These theorists laid the foundation for present-day epistemological belief research. Each theorist concluded that epistemological beliefs of students impacted student achievement. Perry's (1968,1999) studies focused on male College freshmen, Hofer (2001)) proposed translating findings of epistemological researchers to the primary and secondary levels, and Schommer-Aikins (2004) conducted empirical studies on the impact of epistemological beliefs on elementary, high school, and college students. Also, Schommer-Aikins (2004) introduced the Schommer-Aikins (2004) epistemological belief questionnaire. This was the first instrument to quantitatively measure epistemological beliefs. It is the most widely used measurement instrument in the field (Schraw et al., 2017).

This section of the dissertation also reviewed research that, although dated, was aligned with the purpose of this study, understanding the relationship between the epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals which impact school success. In this context, these studies are seminal. These early researchers who focused on principal leadership and epistemological beliefs were Arredondo and Rucinski (1996, 1998) and Varaki (2003). Arredondo and Rucinski (1996, 1998) conducted her studies on Chilean and U.S. educators and principals. The primary conclusion from these studies was that principals' epistemological beliefs influence decisions about curriculum and the kind of school-wide reform innovations to adopt.

Varaki (2003) investigated the relationship between epistemological beliefs of primary and secondary principals in Iran. Varaki (2003) concluded that there was a connection between leadership style and epistemological beliefs of administrators. The limitations of these studies on epistemological beliefs of principals were that they did not provide any insights into the impact of epistemological beliefs on the achievement of school success measured in their prospective environments.

Finally, Seales (2011) connected principal leadership and epistemological beliefs and how these beliefs influence both students and teachers within schools. This study did not address how those epistemological beliefs affect school success. Seales (2011) sampled 100 principals and assistant principals from five school districts in the south. The study described the epistemological beliefs of administrators. An important conclusion drawn from the study was that principals had influence over the epistemological beliefs of students. This is an important conclusion because it shows that both teachers and students are influenced by the belief systems of administrators. Seales (2011) concluded that administrators' epistemological beliefs grow more sophisticated with time. Thus, students' and teachers' epistemological development is influenced by principals. The weakness of the Seales (2011) study is that no relationship is made between Epistemological beliefs of principals and the achievement of success. This study only focuses on the enactment of epistemological beliefs of principals within their schools. The consequences of those enactments are not discussed or evaluated. Seales (2011) is the latest study that is aligned with the general purpose of this dissertation despite the date of the research. It is one of a few studies which sheds some light on the relationship and impact of principal's epistemological beliefs on the school. As stated earlier, this dissertation focuses on how principal's epistemology impacts school achievement. Although the seminal research of Arredondo and Rucinski (1998), Varaki (2003), Seales (2011) do not represent the current research, their research focus connects directly to the focus of this research.

The current literature review of the field found that epistemological belief research focused heavily on the impact that epistemological beliefs have on student achievement through comprehension of text, self-regulated behaviors, and the relationship that the epistemological beliefs of teachers to student achievement (Schraw et al. 2017). The literature review found that no research on principals' epistemological beliefs connected to the achievement of success has been conducted. Understanding the leadership factors that lead to the achievement of school success has social value. First, more understanding of hiring effective principals will be achieved. Second, the more students that achieve success in math and reading in elementary school will lead to higher high school graduations and finally fewer schools' closings. Effective schools have a salutary effect on neighborhood development and economic stability. Thus, productive social change will be achieved.

Chapter 2 of this study reviewed the epistemological theories of Perry (1999), Hofer (2002), and Schommer-Aikin (2004) and examined the current and relevant literature on how the epistemological beliefs of principals lead to the achievement of school success. Section 3 of this study will present both the procedures and the methodology of this study.

#### Chapter 3: Research Method

#### Introduction

In this quantitative correlational study, I examined whether epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals in LMA predict school success as measured by the School Quality Rating Policy (SQRP) rating. I begin this chapter by discussing the research design and its rationale In this section, there is a review of the study variables, research design, and time and resource constraints. The next section is the methodology section. In this section, I provide details about the population; sampling and sampling procedures; procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection; and instrumentation and operationalization of constructs. The data analysis plan and threats to validity are also described. Threats to validity that are discussed are external validity threats, internal validity threats, and construct validity threats. A description of how the respondents were protected is included in the Ethical Procedures subsection. The chapter ends with a summary of key points.

### **Research Design and Rationale**

I conducted a logistic regression analysis to evaluate the RQ and hypotheses. A binomial logistic regression analysis is considered an inferential statistical procedure, as it attempts to evaluate the relationship between at least one predictor variable and a dichotomous outcome variable (Fields, 2017; Pallant, 2016, Tabachnick & Fidell, 2018). The independent predictor variables in this study were epistemological beliefs (continuous), which was measured using the Schommer-Aikins (1994, 2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory. I measured epistemological beliefs in the following five domains: structure of knowledge, stability of knowledge, speed of learning, ability to learn, and source of knowledge. The dependent outcome variables were SQRP school ratings (dichotomous).

The RQ for this study asked the following: To what extent do epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success? I used a correlational design to answer the RQ for a few reasons. As Fields (2018), Pallant (2018), and Tabachnick and Fidell (2013) have indicated, a regression correlational design is appropriate for assessing a hypothesized predictive relationship between two or more variables. It is appropriate, they have noted, for determining whether the epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success. Finally, the regression correlational design was used because a linear relationship was being evaluated using continuous predictors and a dichotomous outcome variable (Fields, 2018; Peralta et al., 2018; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2018). Therefore, the regression correlational design was appropriate to answer the RQ.

The time and resource constraints for the correlational design were limited. The resource requirements for this study included that the survey instrument contain the Schommer-Aikin (2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory. This survey tool is readily available on the internet, so there was no challenge with access. Another resource used for this study was the target LMA's SQRP school ratings. These scores were also available online and posed no challenge to access. Another tool that was used in this study is the SurveyMonkey survey hosting website. Finally, time was needed for data collection and data analysis. I needed about 3 weeks to complete data collection and

about 4 weeks to complete the three phases of the data analysis process (data preparation, preliminary analysis, and primary analysis).

The use of the correlational design in this study was consistent with other studies performed in the education discipline. For example, Aydin et al. (2018) studied the canonical correlation between preservice teachers, life-long learning, and epistemological beliefs. They found that epistemological beliefs and lifelong learning beliefs were canonically correlated with an effect size of 34%. Additionally, Saleem et al. (2017) examined whether there was a relationship between epistemological development using the Perry (1999) model and age, wisdom, gender, and education. Saleem et al. used a convenience sample of 83 men and 67 women. They found that there was a positive correlation between epistemological development and age, wisdom, and education. Therefore, this current study is aligned with previous studies and may advance knowledge in the education discipline.

### Methodology

# Population

The general population consisted of public principals in the United States, of which there were 90,410 in 2016 (Mcfarland et al., 2017). The target population was a subset of the entire population from which sample participants were recruited. A sample refers to the participants who engage in a study (Creswell, 2018; Leedy & Ormrod, 2018). In this study, the target population was principals in the target LMA public schools. According to 2019 data from the LMA's department of education, there was a total of 111 K-8 public school principals in the LMA at the time of the study. I drew the sample from this population.

## **Sampling and Sampling Procedures**

I used a nonprobability convenience sampling technique to select respondents. A convenience sampling approach is not representative of the target population. A researcher using this technique simply accepts those into the study who are readily available (Creswell, 2017; Leedy & Ormrod, 2018). I chose this technique given the cost and time savings over probability sampling approaches. Weaknesses of convenience sampling include the possibility of overrepresentation or underrepresentation bias of the sample (Cresswell, 2017). However, this sampling approach is easy to execute with relatively low monetary cost and time resources, relative to probability sampling (Cresswell, 2017; Leedy & Ormrod, 2018).

## Method for Drawing the Sample

The researcher posted an invitation containing a link to the survey on the Facebook groups of principals who work in the LMA public schools. The invitation contained the survey topic and brief description. The survey invitation was approved by Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) . The survey invitation and link were also posted on an insider Facebook group called the Principals Desk. This Facebook group consists of principals working in the LMA public schools. The link took the prospective participants to the approved informed consent form and then to the survey screener once they agreed to the informed consent form. The expected time to complete the survey was 15 minutes.

### Sampling Frame and Iinclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The sampling frame included all principals of a public school in the LMA school district. This includes principals of varying employment lengths. This also included principals in charter schools. Principals who are employed in private and parochial schools in LMA included in the sampling frame because this study is focused on public schools. Additionally, principals who do not work inside the metro LMA area are also excluded from the form.

### **Power Analysis**

I conducted a power analysis using G\*Power (Erdfelder et al., 2009). G\*Power is an interactive software program that performs statistical power analysis for the most common statistical test, such as t-test, F test, and  $\chi$  2 tests. For the logistic regression analysis, a power of .80 and an alpha level of .05 were used to calculate the required sample size. Using these values, the minimum sample size for the logistic regression analysis is 105 (see Figure 2). The effect size and alpha levels are the standards for computing power analysis in social scientific research (Fields, 2018; Leedy & Ormrod, 2018). A minimum sample of 105 respondents will be adequate to detect a medium-sized effect. I am using a dichotomous outcome variable. So, a binomial logistic regression was performed.
## Figure 2

*Results of Power Analysis Using G\*Power* 



## Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Principals were recruited from an LMA department of education via email. The email will contain a description of the study, the author of the study, a link to the study, and the amount of time it will take to complete the study. Once the principals click on the link, were taken to the first page of the survey, which is the informed consent form.

## Informed Consent

The informed consent form contained respondents' right not to participate, and a description of confidentiality and usages of the study. If the person chooses to participate in the study, it will constitute their agreement with the content of the informed consent. To continue to the demographic survey, the respondents will have to click a button that says, "I Agree."

## Data Collection and Exiting the Study

Once the respondent agreed to the terms of the informed consent form, they were taken to the first section of the questionnaire, and the respondent moved on to the 63 questions of the Schommer-Aikins (1994, 2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory. Once the 63 questions of the Epistemological Belief Inventory were completed, the respondent will be notified that they have reached the end of the survey. They will be thanked for their participation and reminded that if they have any questions, they can contact the researcher at the email address below. They will be no need for a follow-up to the study.

Archival data was used for this study, relating to school success ratings. The School Quality Rating of an LMA (Chicago Public Schools, 2017) is a performance rating of elementary and high schools in the LMA system. These are the rating scores that are publicly available and accessible of the state education web site. The original categorical scores were 1) highest performance - this is a nationally competitive school, 2) high performance – this is a good school choice with many positive qualities, 3) somewhat low performance – Additional support from the network team is needed, 4) below average performance. The "provisional support" status requires increased support from the network, 5) lowest performance; school is in need of "intensive intervention".

## **Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs**

The Schommer-Aikins (2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory will be employed to evaluate the principals' epistemological beliefs. The questionnaire consists of a 5-point Likert-type scale, where 1 = strongly disagree and 5 = strongly agree. The instrument contains 63 questions (see Appendix). The instrument focuses on four dimensions. These dimensions include the structure of knowledge, also referred to as simple knowledge; the stability of knowledge or certain knowledge; the speed of learning or quick learning; and the ability to learn, also known as fixed ability. The structure of the knowledge dimension goes from isolated bits and pieces to integrated concepts. The fifth and final dimension is source of knowledge. A question example is, "Most words have one clear meaning" (Schommer, 1990). The stability of the knowledge dimension goes from unchanging to continually changing. A question example includes, "I don't like movies that don't have an ending" (Schommer, 1990). The speed of learning dimension moves from quick, all or none, to gradual. A questionnaire sample is as follows, "Successful students learn things quickly" (Schommer, 1990). The ability to learn ranges from fixed at birth to improving with experience and over time. A sample from the questionnaire is "Self-help books are not much help" (Schommer, 1990). Exploratory factor analysis was used to generate the four hypothesized beliefs (Schommer, 1990). Research indicates that the reliability of the instrument ranges from acceptable (Knowledge Cronbach's alpha = .77, Fixed ability Cronbach's alpha = .72) to poor (Certain knowledge Cronbach's alpha = .64, Quick

learning Cronbach's alpha = .55) (Schommer-Aikins et al., 2005). However, construct validity has been confirmed with college students (Schommer, 1994), adults (Schommer, 1994), by Arredondo and Rucinski (1996), and by Garcia (2004). For the current study, mean epistemological belief scores were computed for each respondent for the omnibus analysis. Mean scores for each of the four epistemological sub-scales were also computed. Mean scores were computed for each of the four dimensions. The specific questions used to compute each of the four sub-scales are shown in Table 6.

## Table 6

Factor Name	Questions
Factor 1 – Simple	q15_9, q33_27, q47_41, q48_42, q50_44, q17_11,
Knowledge	q22_16, q0023_17, q0025_19, q0028_22, q0029_23,
	q0036_30, q0039_33, q0063_56, q0065_58, q66_59,
	q0020_14, q0024_18, q0037_31, q41_35, q43_37,
	q44_38, q61_54, q70_63, q11_5, q35_29, q42_36,
	q46_40
Factor 2 – Fixed Ability	q10_4, q21_15, q31_25, q34_28, q69_62, q32_26,
	q38_32, q49_43, q55_49, q26_20, q30_24, q59_52,
	q58_51, q60_53
Factor 3 – Quick Learning	q7_1, q16_10, q45_39, q56_50, q67_60, q14_8,
	q53_47, q62_55, q64_57
Factor 4 – Certain	q8_2, q18_12, q27_21, q40_34, q54_48, q68_61, q9_3,
Knowledge	q12_6, q13_7, q19_13, q51_45, q52_46

Epistemological Beliefs Factors and Questions

#### **Operationalization**

The School Quality Rating Policy Overview (2019) is a performance rating of elementary and high schools in the LMA system. These rating scores are publicly available. Therefore, 1 and 2 equal pass (1), and 3, 4, and 5 equal fail (0). So, school success is scored 0 (fail) or 1 (pass).

The concept of epistemological beliefs was operationalized as the scores from the 63 questions Schommer-Aikins, (2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory. Again, the questionnaire is based on a 5-point Likert-type scale in the following order: 1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree. High scores reflect greater alignment with the specific four dimensions of epistemological beliefs, while lower scores represent less alignment with epistemological beliefs of the specific dimension. The Schommer-Aikins (2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory was an agreement scale of 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Each of the four sub-scales also used a 1-5 agreement scale.

#### **Data Analysis Plan**

I used SPSS Version 27 to analyze the data. The data analysis process took place in three phases: the data preparation phase, the preliminary analysis phase, and the primary analysis phase (see Pallant, 2020). After importing the data into SPSS v27, I examined the data set for missing data or data errors using the frequencies procedures. If errors or missing values are found and cannot be fixed by checking the original data file, then the respondents with missing questions on the Epistemological Belief Inventory will be excluded from the analysis. After the error checking is complete, mean Epistemological Belief Inventory scores will be computed for each respondent by summing all 63 questions and dividing by 63.

Once the data was checked and mean scores were computed, then the preliminary phase of the data analysis process begins. In this phase, descriptive statistics are computed for the demographic questions. Descriptive statistics for the research questions was provided with the results of the statistical analyses. Next, the parametric assumptions of the logistic regression were conducted. The assumptions of the logistic regression analysis are linearity, no multicollinearity (Fields, 2018; Pallant, 2020; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). Multicollinearity is tested using the variable inflation factor (VIF) under the linear regression procedure. If the VIF value for each of the independent predictor variable is less than 10, then the assumption of multicollinearity is not violated. Linearity is reviewed by first creating a log of each continuous independent predictor variable, then including the new log variables in the regression model. If the log variables are significant, then the assumption of linearity is violated.

Finally, after the completion of the preliminary analysis, the primary analysis that addresses the research question was performed. The results of the logistic regression detailed if the independent variable (scores for five dimensions of EB) were significant predictors for the outcome variable. If significant, the logistic regressions odds ratio would reveal the strength and direction of the relationship. Finally, the model determined how much of the total variability in school success is explained by the model and epistemological beliefs.

#### **Threats to Validity**

### **External Validity**

External validity is defined as the extent to which results can be generalized to the target population (Creswell, 2017; Leedy & Ormrod, 2018). The target population of this study was public school principals in LMUSD. A convenience sampling approach may pose a threat to external validity, as this is a non-probability sampling approach where each member of the population does not have an equal chance of being selected.

Therefore, the sample may be biased. There are approximately 111 public school principals in LMA, and the sample requirement, based on the power analysis, is 105. Therefore, the sample size may be large enough to overcome possible sample biases, given how close the sample size is to the total population of 111.

It could also be argued that a possible threat to external validity is the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory (1994, 2004) which is referred to as the Epistemological Belief Inventory. There is no current research that confirms the validity instrument with non-students. The validity has been confirmed with college students (Schommer, 2004), adults (Schommer, 1998), by Arredondo and Rucinski (1998), and by Garcia (2004). Since all public-school principals and LMA are adults, this group may be covered under the current validation confirmations.

#### **Internal Validity**

Internal validity is defined as the researcher's ability to draw correct inferences from the data about the population in a study (Creswell, 2017; Leedy & Ormrod, 2018). So, threats to internal validity affect the researcher's ability to make accurate conclusions from the analysis of the data. Possible threats to internal validity in this study include regression and selection bias (Creswell, 2017; Leedy & Ormrod, 2018). Regression refers to the negative effect that extreme scores can have on the validity of statistical results. This possible threat is being addressed using boxplots to determine if there are extreme values in the data. The second possible threat is selection bias, where the respondents have certain characteristics that predispose them to have certain outcomes on the survey instrument. Given that the target sample size (105) includes a large portion of the total sample (111), it is expected that the negative effect on statistical outcomes is minimal. **Construct Validity** 

Construct validity is the extent to which an instrument measures a characteristic or construct that cannot be directly observed (Creswell, 2018; Leedy & Ormrod, 2018). Face Validity and Content Validity (Trochim, 2006) are imperative for construct validity. There are minimum threats to construct validity in the primary study. The instrument captures five hypothesized beliefs, the structure of knowledge also referred to as simple knowledge; the stability of knowledge or certain knowledge; the speed of learning or quick learning; the ability to learn, and the source of knowledge. The five hypothesized beliefs were generated using exploratory factor analysis (Schommer, 1990) and mean scores from the subsets of items. Confirmatory factor analysis was performed to establish construct validity with college students (Schommer et al., 1992), adults (Schommer, 1998), by Arredondo and Rucinski (1996), and by Garcia (2004). Therefore, the threat to construct validity is minimal.

#### **Ethical Procedures**

This study was in compliance with the Walden University IRB process. Before collecting data, I obtained IRB approval (no.09-22-21-0161577). Specifically, before respondents participate in this study, they needed to read and accept the informed consent form, which acknowledged their rights as participants. Also, no personally identifiable information were obtained from respondents. So, the confidentiality of respondents was assured. Additionally, participants' information was kept anonymous. I secured the

information in my home. The data file will be kept on a secure computer that has no access to the internet for 5 years. After 5 years, the files will be securely deleted from the computer.

## Summary

The purpose of this quantitative correlational design study was to determine if there is a relationship between epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals and school success as measured in LMA by the School Quality Rating Policy (SQRP) rating. This research study uses a correlation analysis to evaluate the research question. The research question for this study asks, if epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success, as measured by the Schommer-Aikins (1994, 2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory and SQRP school ratings. In this study, the target population is principals in the LMA public schools. There are a total of 111 public school principals in LMA (Chicago Department of Education, 2019). The data for this investigation exists in two forms. The first is archival data of public records of schools' yearly SQRP rating. The second will be gathered by the researcher with the Schommer-Aikins (1994, 2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory. This study will be conducted in compliance with the Walden University IRB process.

In chapter 4, the results of the study were discussed. Specifically, details of the data analysis process are provided, including the results of the data preparation phase, the preliminary analysis phase, and the primary analysis phase. The findings will reveal if the null hypothesis is rejected or not rejected.

#### Chapter 4: Results

#### Introduction

In this chapter, I examined the epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals in LMA as predictors of school success. The RQ for this study was, To what extent do epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success? The hypotheses under investigation were as follows:

 $H_01$ : Epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals, as measured by the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory, are not significant predictors of SQRP school ratings.

 $H_1$ 1: Epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals, as measured by the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory, are significant predictors of SQRP school ratings.

 $H_02$ : Epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals, as measured by the four individual subscales of the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory and number of years as principal are not significant predictors of SQRP school ratings.

 $H_1$ 2: Epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals, as measured by the four individual subscales of the Schommer-Aikins Epistemological Belief Inventory and number of years as principal are significant predictors of SQRP school ratings.

This chapter contains the results of the analysis of the data. First, I discuss the data collection time frame and present baseline descriptive and demographic characteristics. Additionally, the representativeness of the sample is revealed. Next, the results of the analysis of the data are discussed. This includes a report of the statistical

assumptions and the statistical analysis findings. Finally, the chapter ends with a summary of key points.

## **Data Collection**

The data collection period occurred from November 1, 2021, to November 14, 2021. The total number of respondents completing the survey was 51. I had sought 105 respondents. However, the respondent count was 54 respondents short of the 105 target. According to district data, there were a total of 516 principals in the LMA at the time of the study. The 51 respondents represented 9.8% of the total principal population.

To evaluate the post-hoc statistical power, I conducted a power analysis using G\*Power (Erdfelder et al., 2009). With an error probability of .05, an odds ratio of 8.6, one predictor variable, and a sample size of 51, the new statistical power was .99 (see Figure 3). This is above the recognized minimum standard of .80 (Field, 2018; Tabachnik & Fidell, 2018).

# Figure 3

Post-Hoc Analysis for Logistic Regression



#### **Results**

## **Descriptive Statistics**

Over 72% of respondents have worked in education for 11 or more years. All the respondents were principals of a school. Also, 84% of respondents indicated that they had

worked as principals for a period between 3 and 10 years. Most of the principal participants (88.2%) reported working in junior high school (seventh and eighth grades). Finally, over half of respondents (58.8%) headed schools that did not meet school success. Table 7 shows descriptive statistics for the categorical variables in the study.

## Table 7

Variable	Ν	% of total
Years in education		
1-2	1	2.0
3-5	4	7.8
5-10	9	17.6
11-15	20	39.2
16 or more	17	33.3
Principal of school		
Yes	51	100
No	0	0.0
Years as principal		
1-2	6	11.8
3-5	21	41.2
5-10	22	43.1
10 or more year	2	3.9
Grades of your school		
K-3	6	11.8
4-6	4	7.8
7-8	41	80.4
School success		
Yes	21	41.2
No	30	58.8

Descriptive Statistics of Categorical Variables

# **Statistical Assumptions**

There are three phases in the data analysis process: the data preparation phase, the preliminary analysis phase, and the primary analysis phase (Pallant, 2020). During data

preparation, I checked the data for errors and missing values. There were no missing values or data errors. Also, during this phase, I computed mean scores for all respondents for the questions of the epistemological survey . Mean scores for the four factors of epistemological beliefs were also computed. The four factors are simple knowledge (Factor 1), fixed ability (Factor 2), quick learning (Factor 3), and certain knowledge (Factor 4). The questions associated with each of the four factors are included in Table 8. Next was the preliminary analysis phase. During this phase, I tested the statistical assumptions. The assumption of the logistic regression with one independent variable was linearity between the independent variable and the log of the independent variable. This was evaluated by computing the log of the epistemological belief mean scores, then creating an interaction term between the log of epistemological belief and the mean scores of epistemological beliefs, and then finally regressing this on whether the school meets school success (yes or no). The results indicated that the interaction term was significant, meaning the assumption of linearity was violated (Exp( $\beta$ ) = .00, *p* = .015).

#### Table 8

Factor name	Question					
Factor 1: Simple Knowledge	q15_9, q33_27, q47_41, q48_42, q50_44, q17_11, q22_16, q0023_17, q0025_19, q0028_22, q0029_23, q0036_30, q0039_33, q0063_56, q0065_58, q66_59,					
	q0020_14, q0024_18, q0037_31, q41_35, q43_37, q44_38, q61_54, q70_63, q11_5, q35_29, q42_36, q46_40					
Factor 2: Fixed Ability	q10_4, q21_15, q31_25, q34_28, q69_62, q32_26, q38_32, q49_43, q55_49, q26_20, q30_24, q59_52, q58_51, q60_53					

Epistemological Beliefs Factors and Questions

	75
Factor 3: Quick Learning	q7_1, q16_10, q45_39, q56_50, q67_60, q14_8,
	q53_47, q62_55, q64_57
Factor 4: Certain Knowledge	q8_2, q18_12, q27_21, q40_34, q54_48, q68_61, q9_3,
	q12_6, q13_7, q19_13, q51_45, q52_46

### **First Logistic Regression**

The RQ was, To what extent do epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success? As a result of the violation in linearity, the mean composite variable of Epistemological Beliefs was divided into three equally sized categories. The mean scores for the three categories were 2.23 (SD = .05) for the low group 1, 2.67 (SD = .02) for medium group 2, and 3.07 (SD = .04) for high group 3. According to Tabachnik and Fidell (2018) and Field (2018), dividing the predictor variable into groups removes the violation of linearity. The logistic regression was conducted with the new categorical Epistemological Beliefs variable, where one was low, 2 was medium, and three was high scores. The reference group in the logistic regression was the low group. The results of the logistic regression indicated that the model was a significant predictor for school success,  $\chi^2 = 8.15$ , p = .017, where the amount of variability explained by the model ranged from 14.8% (Cox and Snell R) and 19.9% (Nagelkerke R). The coefficients table indicated that membership in the medium group (2) was a significant predictor of passing the AYP (Exp  $(\beta) = 8.56$ , p = .008). Specifically, those in the medium group were eight times more likely to achieve school success than those in the low group. The high Epistemological Beliefs group was not able to significantly predict school success,

compared to the low group (Exp ( $\beta$ ) = 3.27, p = .214). As a result of the significant logistic regression, null hypothesis one was rejected. Tables 9. 10, and 11 show the findings for the chi-square and regression analyses.

# Table 9

Chi-Square Table for the Epistemological Beliefs Categories

	Chi- square	df	Р
Step	8.151	2	.017
Block	8.151	2	.017
Model	8.151	2	.017

# Table 10

Regression Coefficients Table of the Log Mean Epistemological Beliefs

							95% C.I.for EXP(B)		
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Р	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper	
Mean_Epist	89.743	36.801	5.947	1	.015	9.435E+38	44655958.501	1.994E+70	
Log by Mean_Epist	-44.799	18.434	5.906	1	.015	.000	.000	.000	
Constant	- 121.647	49.722	5.986	1	.014	.000			

## Table 11

							95% C.I.for EXP(B)		
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	р	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper	
Epist_Group			6.998	2	.030				
Epist_Group (1)	2.147	.814	6.957	1	.008	8.556	1.736	42.169	
Epist_Group (2)	1.184	.805	2.164	1	.141	3.267	.675	15.816	
Constant	-1.540	.636	5.863	1	.015	.214			

Regression Coefficients Table for the Epistemological Beliefs Categories

a. Variable(s) entered on step 1: Epist\_Group.

To evaluate if the four factors and number of years as a Principal are significant predictors of school success, a logistic regression was conducted. The test of assumptions indicated that factor 1 violated the assumption of linearity. So, factor 1 was divided in to three equally sized groups, low (1 to 2.37), medium (2.38 to 2.75), and high (2.75 and above). Table 12 shows the results of the test of linearity.

## Table 12

							95% C.I	.for EXP(B)
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	р	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Factor_1	168.45	59.66	7.97	1	.01	1.436E+73	2366903056877 890000000	8.709E+123
Factor_2	-6.97	29.96	.05	1	.82	.00	.000	2982616151408552 5000000
Factor_3	-29.87	20.66	2.09	1	.15	.00	.000	40534.699
Factor_4	Factor_4 -5.22	31.23	.03	1	.87	.01	.000	2086649891126518 600000000
Factor_1 by Ln_Factor1	-85.51	30.19	8.02	1	.01	.00	.000	.000
Factor_2 by Ln_Factor2	3.26	14.10	.05	1	.82	25.98	.000	26035560843339
Factor_3 by Ln_Factor3	14.54	10.23	2.02	1	.16	2053320	.004	1041448830179612
Factor_4 by Ln_Factor4	3.34	16.30	.04	1	.84	28.08	.000	2115660367023608
Constant	-167.77	59.10	8.06	1	.01	.000		

Regression Coefficients Table of the Log Mean Epistemological Beliefs Factors

# **Second Logistic Regression**

The second logistic regression included the four factors, and another predictor variable, the number of years respondents have served as Principal. The outcome variable, as in the first logistic regression, was school success. The results indicated that the model was not a significant predictor of school success,  $\chi^2$  (5) =2.22, p = 8.18, where the R<sup>2</sup> was.043 (Cox and Snell) and .057 (Nagelkerke). Meaning, none of the predictor variables were a significant predictor of school success. Based on the results of the logistic regression (see Tables 13 and 14), null hypothesis two was not rejected.

## Table 13

Chi-Square Table for the Epistemological Beliefs Factors

	Chi-square	Df	Р
Step	2.221	5	.818
Block	2.221	5	.818
Model	2.221	5	.818

## Table 14

Regression Coefficients Table for the Epistemological Beliefs Factors

							95% C.I.for EXP(B	
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	р	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Factor_2	.114	.902	.016	1	.900	1.121	.191	6.565
Factor_3	328	.870	.142	1	.706	.720	.131	3.964
Factor_4	.170	.945	.032	1	.857	1.185	.186	7.556
Factor1_Group	.505	.513	.968	1	.325	1.657	.606	4.527
Years as principal	.074	.371	.040	1	.841	1.077	.521	2.227
Constant	-1.568	2.409	.424	1	.515	.208		

## **Post Hoc Test**

The logistic regression does not have a post-hoc test. Additionally, no follow-up tests were necessary, based on the logistic regression findings. Therefore, there was no post-hoc test for this study.

### Summary

For this study, the research question was, to what extent does epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success. The null hypothesis under investigation was epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals, as measured by the Schommer-Aikins

Epistemological Belief Inventory is not a significant predictor of SQRP school ratings. Logistic regressions were conducted to determine if Epistemological Beliefs was a significant predictor of school success. For the first logistic regression, there were three Epistemological Beliefs categories, based on low medium and high scores. The means scores for each of the group were 2.23 (SD = .05) for the low group 1, 2.67 (SD = .02) for medium group 2, and 3.07 (SD = .04) for high group 3. The results of the logistic regression indicated that the model was a significant predictor of school success. The amount of variability explained by the model ranged from 14.8% (Cox and Snell R) and 19.9% (Nagelkerke R). The high Epistemological Beliefs group was not able to significantly predict school success, compared to the low group. The medium group (2) was a significant predictor of school success. Specifically, those in the medium group were eight times more likely to achieve school success than those in the low group. As a result of the significant logistic regression, the first null hypothesis was rejected. However, when the four factors of Epistemological Beliefs were examined as predictors of school success, the four factors and time as Principal were not significant. Therefore, I failed to reject the second null hypothesis. It is suspected that dividing epistemological beliefs into three groups in the first regression made it more different in nature than the four categories of epistemological beliefs.

In chapter 5, the results are reviewed in the context of the literature review. Specifically, the results will be examined to determine if the outcome of the study was aligned with what was expected from research that was reviewed in chapter two. Chapter five discusses the limitations of the study and the recommendations for future research. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

#### Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine to what extent epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals in LMA predicted school success. I used logistic regression analysis. The first continuous predictor variable was epistemological beliefs as measured by the Schommer–Aikins (2004) Epistemological Belief Inventory. The second variable was a dichotomous dependent variable that measured school success. This variable was determined by whether or not the school achieved school success. This was scored as 0 (unsuccessful) or 1 (successful). In the LMA, there were approximately 516 principals at the time of the study. As discussed in Chapter 3, a minimum sample of 105 principals was required. Only 10.4% of the total population of principals responded to the survey, A non probalistic converience sample was used. Specifically, invitation flyers were placed within principals' Facebook groups. The invitation contained the survey topic and a brief description.

I conducted two logistic regression analysis. Based on the results of the first analysis, the null hypothesis that epistemological beliefs were not a significant predictor of school success was not rejected. However, when the second logistic regression analysis was conducted, the four factors of epistemological beliefs and time as principal, the results were not significant. The first regression analysis conducted included epistemological beliefs categories based on three groups: low, median and high. In the high group, epistemological beliefs were not able to predict school success. However, in the median group principals who held certain epistemological beliefs were more likely to pass AYP and therefore predict school success. Furthermore, the medium group was 8 times more likely to achieve school success than the low group. The second logistic regression test included the four factors for achieving school success (simple knowledge, fixed knowledge, quick learning, and certain knowledge) as well as time as principal. It failed to reject the null hypotheses. Thus, the null hypotheses were not rejected.

#### **Interpretation of the Findings**

I discuss the findings in relation to the literature and theoretical framework. The RQ that I sought to the answer was, To what extent do epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success?

### Findings in Relation to the Literature

I found that being in the medium group in regard to epistemological beliefs was a predictor of school success. A logistic regression was conducted to determine if epistemological beliefs predict school success. To avoid issues associated with the threat of linearity, the mean composite variable was divided into three equally sized groups: low (scores), middle (average range), and high (scores). The low group was the reference group. The low group was coded as 1, the middle group as 2, and the high as 3. Thus, those principals who scored in the middle were more likely to predict school success. In fact, those principals with middle scores were 8 times more likely to predict school success. Thus, those principals with average scores (middle group) were 8 times more likely to meet school success goals.

Epistemological beliefs are predictive of school success, research shows.

Schechter (2017) found that principals are mediators of reform. Although Schechter's study was conducted outside of the United States, the idea that principals' decisions are central to school success is supported by the seminal theorists discussed in the literature review. Arredondo (1998), Varaki (2003), and Seals (2011) all generally concluded that principal epistemological beliefs influence decisions within the school. Seals concluded that the epistemological beliefs of principals influenced curriculum decisions. Arredondo et al., Varaki, and Seales are the only researchers I have found who have examined the epistemological beliefs of principals and how they affected principal decisions.

Buske and Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia (2019) found that principals who held naive beliefs were less inclined to use external data in their decisions. This study shows that epistemological beliefs inform principal decisions within schools. Thus, as mediators of reform, this makes principal beliefs a very critical factor in school success. The literature review shows how epistemological beliefs affect teacher and student achievement. Winberg et al. (2018) showed that epistemological beliefs affect student achievement.

Markauskaite and Goodyear (2017) found that epistemological beliefs influence problem solving, learning tasks, and judgment. This study further shows that epistemological beliefs affect decisions and how decisions are processed. Lesoto et al. (2017) also found that epistemological beliefs affected student achievement. Using Perry's (1999) scale, Saleem et al. (2017) also found that epistemological beliefs correlated to age, wisdom, gender, and education. These findings support that epistemological beliefs affect achievement behavior. More specifically, these studies show that epistemological beliefs affect student achievement and teacher success. These beliefs also influence how principals use data in their decisions. This study further substantiates that epistemological beliefs affect principal decisions. However, previous researchers did not indicate whether the principal was in a K-8 school or high school. Thus, this study differs in its scope.

I rejected the null hypothesis because the medium group was found to be 8 times more likely to achieve school success. Thus K-8 principals within the medium group were found to be more likely to achieve school success. This supports foundational premises of epistemological belief studies. Perry (1999) viewed epistemological belief studies as a cross-discipline study that concerned the nature of knowledge and the process of knowing. Epistemological belief studies focus on all levels of education. Perry began in the 1950s studying the connection between academic achievement and epistemological beliefs of college students. Subsequent researchers extended epistemological belief studies to all levels of study. Schommer-Aikins (2004) explored middle and high schools. In addition, Schommer-Aikins developed the Epistemological Belief Inventory to show that epistemological beliefs can be studied quantitatively. Hofer (2010) focused on methodological issues.

### **Findings in Relation to the Theoretical Framework**

For the theoretical framework of this study, I included general theorists who developed fundamental theories and seminal theorists who extended the general theories. Perry (1999), Hofer (2002), and Schommer-Aikins, (2004) are the general theorists who developed the field. In this study, Perry and Schommer-Aikins were particularly important. Perry contended that students develop epistemological beliefs over time and that epistemological beliefs are developed in stages of dualism, multiplicity, relativism, and commitment. Schommer-Aikins asserted that Perry's epistemological model could be quantitatively measured. Schommer-Aikins developed the Epistemological Belief Inventory to measure epistemological beliefs. Schommer-Aikins developed a five-factor model of epistemological beliefs. In the five-factor model, epistemological beliefs are centered around the source of knowledge, the certainty of knowledge, omniscience of knowledge, controllability of knowledge, and the speed of knowledge. Schommer-Aikins introduced a 63 Epistemological Belief Inventory that measured each factor. Schommer-Aikins found through more than 15 studies that epistemological beliefs influenced student achievement in elementary, high school, and college. In addition, Schommer-Aikins showed that epistemological beliefs also affect teacher success within the classroom. Arredondo and Rucinski (1998) found that there was no difference between epistemic beliefs of teachers and principals. Therefore, principals' epistemic beliefs affect school success just as much as teachers'.

Arredondo and Rucinski (1998) Varaki (2003), and Seales (1011) extended epistemological research to principals' decision-making within the school. However, Arredondo and Rucinski, Varaki, and Seales have been the only major studies that focused on the role that epistemological beliefs play in decision-making. Arredondo and Rucinski and Varaki showed how epistemological beliefs influence data administrators. Curriculum decisions are made within the school and how innovations are adopted within the school by administrators. Seales focused on epistemological beliefs of principals and how they enact those beliefs within their schools.

The theoretical framework showed that epistemological beliefs are measurable and that epistemological beliefs influence principals' school-wide decisions, specifically how data is used or not used within the school and how curriculum decisions are made. This study is confluent with the theoretical framework because it shows that the epistemological beliefs of principals as measured by the Schommer-Aikins (2004) predict school success. Teachers' epistemological beliefs affect school success and principals, Arredondo and Rucinski (1998). This study found that out of three groups (high, middle, and low), the principals that scored average were 8 times more likely to predict school success. This is consistent with the findings within the theoretical framework, which found that epistemological beliefs are measurable and that they impact how data is used by administrators, how curriculum decisions are made by administrators, and how innovations are implemented within the school. This study further extends the goal of epistemological studies by limiting the scope to elementary schools and how epistemological beliefs predict school success. According to Schechter (2017), principals are the mediators of reform. This means that reform measures will fail if school administrators do not understand enough about how principals make decisions and what factors influence those decisions. Epistemological beliefs are largely unseen and unnoticed. In order to understand their influence, research must be conducted. This study is an extension of the theoretical framework that seeks to understand the relationship between epistemological beliefs and academic beliefs on all le3vels. Many studies

focused on understanding the role of epistemological beliefs in the academic achievement of students (college to middle and elementary school), teachers, and with this study, Principals on the elementary school level.

## Limitations of the Study

This study used a quantitative correlational study to predict whether epistemological beliefs of k-8 principals predict school success in elementary school in a Large Metropolitan Area. Specifically, this study used logistic regression to evaluate the question. The independent predictor variable was Epistemological beliefs as measured by Schommer-Aikins (2004) Epistemological scale. The dichotomous dependent variable was school success as determined through SQRP. According to the CPS (2021), there were approximately 516 principals in the LMA. Based on the G\*Power analysis, this study sought to obtain 105 respondents. However, this study received 51 respondents. This represented 10.4% of the total LMA. The low sample size is an external threat to validity. The data collection time was approximately 2 weeks. Perhaps the survey period needs to be extended in future studies.

The limitation to the internal validity was that the respondents self-reported their school success status via the SQRP. There was no external data collected from survey respondents that validated whether their school met school success status or did not make school success. In addition to this, the length of time to complete the survey was 20 minutes. The survey length was 74 questions. Future studies could address this issue by shortening the time it takes to complete the survey. Therefore, there may be questions

about how the time to complete the survey may have affected the total number of respondents.

### Recommendations

This study showed that epistemological beliefs of principals affect decisions about curriculum as well as how data is used to make decisions (Arredondo & Rucinski, 1998; Seales, 2011; Varaki, 2003). Principal decisions matter. This idea is further supported by Schechter (2017) who found that principals are mediating agents of reform. Thus, principals are central to school reform.

Breger (2017) found that schools' achievement within the CPS is correlated with poverty/ Also, family income is correlated with urban education. Thus, school achievement is linked to poverty and family income. This study connects epistemological beliefs of principals to school achievement. How a non-achieving school affects families in an area could be looked at as an external output- poverty and income. However, epistemological beliefs of principals as decision-makers or mediating agents of reform could be envisioned as an input. Thus, school reform can also be addressed by the principal selection process. Epistemological beliefs of principals are a factor in school improvement that should be addressed. This study found that the medium group average scores was 8 times more likely to predict school success. Thus, school districts seeking to hire effective principals could use epistemological score data – if the principal candidate scores a middle score- to determine if a principal candidate will be an effective principal. This could promote social change. Therefore, making schools effective has many positive effects on the individual stakeholders and the community stakeholders. The principal selection process in many school districts is already complex. However, because many consider principals to be the gatekeepers of change, how principals make decisions is important. There needs to be further research on the details of how epistemological beliefs of principals predict school success on a larger scale. Principals need awareness of how their prior beliefs on specific topics in areas of epistemological beliefs affect how they view topics and how those views influence their decisions. In many cases, awareness can be a cure. However, the recommendation is that more knowledge needs to be done in this area. That research should help inform districts on how principals are educated and selected in the future.

This study calls for additional further research to understand the precise relationship between epistemological beliefs of principals and school success. This study was a correlational study to determine if epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals predict school success. This study found a connection to school success and epistemological beliefs within the medium group. However, the study did not find that the four factors of epistemological beliefs plus time as principal were significant. Further research needs to be done that clarifies how that relationship works. Research in this area may have a significant impact on school reform because principals are mediators of reform. They are empowered by school boards to enact change within their school.

This recommendation calls for a similar study on a larger scale. This study used convenience sampling. However, in the future, the study could be carried out within three large metropolitan areas: New York, Chicago, and Los Angeles. Why these areas? They are the largest metropolitan urban centers, and any significant result within these areas would show that epistemological beliefs can have a national impact on principal decisions. A future study would not be done using convenient sampling but would be sanctioned by the urban school districts. Furthermore, any significant results from a study in large urban areas could have policy significance as well as educational import and warrant further studies in the area of how epistemological beliefs [predict school success.Finally further studies need to be done focusing on charter schools and schools in smaller districts. Additionally district and school culture need to be considered.

### Implications

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine to what extent epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals in LMA predicted school success. The results of the first logistic regression test showed that out of three groups, the medium group was 8 times more likely to predict school success; there is a need for more studies to illuminate this relationship. Even though the results of this particular study ended with a rejection of the null hypothesis, the sample size was smaller than desired, resulting in low statistical power. The second logistic regression examined the four factors of epistemological beliefs individually and the results showed that the factors were not significant predictors of school success. Thus, this study failed to reject the second null hypothesis. Thus, a larger study with a larger sample with the same methodology is proposed. In addition, this study can have a positive impact on students' success, school success, and perhaps community improvement. The effect of the social impact has a lot to do with a more precise understanding of the relationship between epistemological beliefs and school success. However, it has been shown that epistemological beliefs affect student achievement, teaching success, and how principals make use of data within their schools. It has also been shown that principals are the gatekeepers of school success, improving how principals make decisions within schools has an enormous influence on the direction a school can take. Further studies need to be done to further illuminate the relationship between epistemological beliefs and school success.

Furthermore, principals who understand how their epistemological beliefs affect their decisions on how to use data within their schools may make more informed decisions. This can have an impact on a larger scale principal by principal, school by school. Social change can start from a macro level, or it can be engendered from the micro level. This means that it can start from a national policy level, I.E. NCLB 2001 or it can begin from a school-wide level of improvement. Social change from a micro-level would involve in the area of epistemological beliefs, helping principals to be aware of how their epistemological beliefs can be predictive of school success as well as helping them to understand their beliefs and how those beliefs can help them improve their decisions within schools.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine to what extent epistemological beliefs of K-8 principals in LMA predicted school success. However, there need to be further studies with a larger sample size to determine the nature of that relationship. This study is important because principals m in the era of school reform have been identified as the gatekeepers of school reform. All school reform ultimately runs through a principal. This fact makes the role, decisions, and behavior of principals as very critical to school success. School success on the elementary and high school level has been shown to lead to success in college. In other words, the success of schools has an effect on the overall life of the students. Students who are able to achieve in school have a better chance at fulfilling their life goals. This makes the roles that principals play in the school as very important. Thus, this study's goal was to further understand the role through investigating principals' epistemological beliefs. School success has a trickledown effect on the life of the students. There is a significant social impact by understanding this relationship because understanding how to improve any relationship that predicts school success will have a positive social impact. In other words, this can have a multiplier effect on schools. Understanding the conditions that further predict school success will have a trickledown effect on students' success and therefore have a great impact on society. School reform was a social good promoted by NCLB 2001 and then ESSA 2014. School improvement is a social good, and understanding the role that epistemological beliefs play in predicting school success will can bring about a positive social change on a large scale.

- Adorno, T., Frenkel-Brenswik, E., Levinson, D. J., & Sanford, R. N. (2019). *The authoritarian personality*. Verso Books.
- Arredondo, D. E., & Rucinski, T. T. (1996, November 7-8). *Epistemological beliefs of Chilean educators and school reform efforts* [Paper presentation]. Tercer
  Encuentro National de Enfoques Cognitivos Actuales en Educacion, Santiago, Chile.
- Arredondo, D. E., & Rucinski, T. T. (1998). Principal perceptions and beliefs about integrated curriculum use. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 36(3), 286-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09578239810214722</u>
- Aydin, S., Selçuk, G., & Çakmak, A. (2018). Examining beliefs of preservice teachers about epistemology and life-long learning competency via canonical correlation analysis. *Acta Didactica Napocensia*, 11(1), 13–24.
- Barzilai, S., & Ka'adan, I. (2017). Learning to integrate divergent information sources:
  The interplay of epistemic cognition and epistemic metacognition. *Metacognition and Learning*, *12*(2), 193–232.
- Baxter Magolda, M. B. (2004). Evolution of a constructivist conceptualization of epistemological reflection. *Educational Psychologist*, *39*(1), 31–42.
- Belenky, M., Clincy, B., Goldberger, N., & Tarule, J. (1997). Women's ways of knowing: The development of self, voice, and mind. Harper Collins.
- Bendixen, L. D., & Feucht, F. C. (2010). *Personal epistemology in the classroom: Theory, research, and implications for practice*. Cambridge University Press.

- Boies, K., & Fiset, J. (2019). I do as I think: Exploring the alignment of principal cognitions and behaviors and its effects on teacher outcomes. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 55(2), 225–252.
- Botha, R. J. (2013). Epistemological beliefs and leadership approaches among South African school principals. *Educational Studies*, *39*(4), 431–443.
- Bowman, E. W. (2018). Reticence to change in education. *Journal of Thought*, *52*(1–2), 48–65.
- Breger, L. (2017). Poverty and student achievement in Chicago public schools. *The American Economist*, *62*(2), 206–216.
- Brown, C., Schildkamp, K., & Hubers, M. D. (2017). Combining the best of two worlds:
   A conceptual proposal for evidence-informed school improvement. *Educational Research*, 59(2), 154–172.
- Brownlee, J., Boulton-Lewis, G., & Berthelsen, D. (2008). Epistemological beliefs in child care: Implications for vocational education. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 78(3), 457–471.
- Brownlee, J., Nailon, D., & Tickle, E. (2010). Constructing leadership in childcare: Epistemological beliefs and transformational leadership. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 35(3), 95–104.
- Brownlee, J., Schraw, G., & Berthelsen, D. (2012). *Personal epistemology and teacher education*. Routledge.
- Buckner-Capone, A. (2019). Superintendent beliefs about the assessment and use of school climate data for continuous improvement [Doctoral dissertation, San Jose

State University]. SJSU ScholarWorks.

https://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1032&context=etd\_diss ertations

- Buehl, M. M., & Fives, H. (2016). The role of epistemic cognition in teacher learning and praxis. *Handbook of Epistemic Cognition*, 247–264.
- Buske, R., & Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, O. (2019). Investigating principals' data use in school: The impact of evidence-oriented attitudes and epistemological beliefs. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 47(6), 925–942.
- Chen, J. A., & Barger, M. M. (2016). Epistemic cognition and motivation. In J. A. Greene, W. A. Sandoval, & I. Bråten (Eds.), *Handbook of epistemic cognition* (pp. 437–450). Routledge.
- Conwell, J. A., & Ispa-Landa, S. (2020). Principals in urban schools under pressure: Relations with parents in the era of test-based accountability. *Urban Education*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085920937764</u>
- Cox, D. R., & Snell, E. J. (2018). Analysis of binary data. Routledge.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Sage Publications.
- DeBacker, T. K., Crowson, H. M., Beesley, A. D., Thoma, S. J., & Hestevold, N. L. (2008). The challenge of measuring epistemic beliefs: An analysis of three selfreport instruments. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 76(3), 281–312.
- Dinç, E., & Üztemur, S. (2017). Investigating student teachers' conceptions of social studies through the multi-dimensional structure of the epistemological beliefs.

Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice, 17(6).

- Duell, O. K., & Schommer-Aikins, M. (2001). Measures of people's beliefs about knowledge and learning. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13(4), 419–449.
- Erdfelder, E., Auer, T. S., Hilbig, B. E., Aßfalg, A., Moshagen, M., & Nadarevic, L.(2009). Multinomial processing tree models: A review of the literature. Zeitschriftfür Psychologie/Journal of Psychology, 217(3), 108.
- Every Student Succeeds Act of 2015, Pub. L. No. 114-95, 129 Stat. 1802 (2015). <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/PLAW-114publ95/pdf/PLAW-114publ95.pdf</u>
- Fayyaz, I. (2018). Survey of Fasting Blood Glucose levels in New Medical College Entrants of CMH LMC and IOD. MedERA-Journal of CMH LMC and IOD, 2.
- Federal education budget project. (2013). No child left behind overview.

http://febp.newamerica.net/background-analysis/no-child-left-behind-overview

Field, A. (2018). Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics. SAGE Publications.

- Flores, R. L. (2017). The rising gap between rich and poor: A look at the persistence of educational disparities in the United States and why we should worry. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 3(1), 1323698. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2017.1323698
- Friedman, E. (2020). Effective Principals, Effective Turnarounds: Considering the Role of the "Turnaround Principal" in Public School Transformation.
- Garner, B., Thorne, J. K., & Horn, I. S. (2017). Teachers interpreting data for instructional decisions: Where does equity come in? *Journal of Educational Administration*, 55(4), 407–426. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-09-2016-0106
- Garrett, R. K., & Weeks, B. E. (2017). Epistemic beliefs' role in promoting misperceptions and conspiracist ideation. *PloS One*, *12*(9), e0184733.
- Getahun, D. A., Saroyan, A., & Aulls, M. W. (2016). Examining Undergraduate Students' Conceptions of Inquiry in Terms of Epistemic Belief Differences. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 46(2), 181–205.
- González-Cauley, W. L. (2018). *Data use: Administrators' perspectives* (Publication No. 10689772) [Doctoral dissertation, The George Washington University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- Green, T. L. (2018). School as Community, Community as School: Examining Principal Leadership for Urban School Reform and Community Development. *Education and Urban Society*, 50(2), 111–135. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124516683997
- Hales, P. D., Graves, N., Durr, T., & Browne, M. (2018). Changing US political climate influence on the professional outlook of prospective teachers. *Taboo: The Journal* of Culture and Education, 17(2), 9.
- Hallinger, P., Hosseingholizadeh, R., Hashemi, N., & Kouhsari, M. (2018). Do beliefs make a difference? Exploring how principal self-efficacy and instructional leadership impact teacher efficacy and commitment in Iran. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 46(5), 800–819.

Harrington, D. (2009). Confirmatory factor analysis. Oxford university press.

Harrison, C. J., Könings, K. D., Schuwirth, L. W., Wass, V., & Van der Vleuten, C. P. (2017). Changing the culture of assessment: The dominance of the summative assessment paradigm. *BMC Medical Education*, *17*(1), 1–14.

- Heffernan, A. (2018). Power and the 'autonomous' principal: Autonomy, teacher development, and school leaders' work. *Journal of Educational Administration* and History, 50(4), 379–396.
- Herring, T. (2018). Data Dissemination Practices of Elementary School Principals. In Data Leadership for K-12 Schools in a Time of Accountability (pp. 19–38). IGI Global.
- Hofer, B. K. (1997). *The development of personal epistemology: Dimensions, disciplinary differences, and instructional practices*. University of Michigan.
- Hofer, B. K. (2000). Dimensionality and disciplinary differences in personal epistemology. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *25*(4), 378–405.
- Hofer, B. K. (2001). Personal epistemology research: Implications for learning and teaching. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13(4), 353–383.
- Hofer, B. K. (2002). Personal epistemology as a psychological and educational construct:
   An introduction. *Personal Epistemology: The Psychology of Beliefs about Knowledge and Knowing*, 3–14.
- Hofer, B. K. (2004). Introduction: Paradigmatic approaches to personal epistemology. *Educational Psychologist*, *39*(1), 1–3.
- Hofer, B. K. (2005). The legacy and the challenges: Paul Pintrich's contributions to personal epistemology research. *Educational Psychologist*, *40*(2), 95–105.
- Hofer, B. K. (2006). Beliefs about knowledge and knowing: Integrating domain specificity and domain generality: A response to Muis, Bendixen, and Haerle (2006). *Educational Psychology Review*, 18(1), 67–76.

- Hofer, B. K. (2010). Personal epistemology in Asia: Burgeoning research and future directions. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 19(1), 179–184.
- Hofer, B. K., & Pintrich, P. R. (2012). Personal epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing. Routledge.
- Hofer, B. K., & Sinatra, G. M. (2010). Epistemology, metacognition, and self-regulation:Musings on an emerging field. *Metacognition and Learning*, 5(1), 113–120.
- Huffman, K. (2017). If parents push for it, accountability can work. *Education Next*, *17*(3), 51–55.
- Illinois ESSA Plan Executive Summary March 2018. (n.d.). Retrieved January 12, 2022, from

https://www.grantbulldogs.org/site/http%3A%2F%2Fwww.grantbulldogs.org%2F site%2Fdefault.aspx%3FPageType%3D3%26ModuleInstanceID%3D2380%26Vi ewID%3DC9E0416E-F0E7-4626-AA7B-

C14D59F72F85%26RenderLoc%3D0%26FlexDataID%3D3768%26PageID%3D 988%26Comments%3Dtrue

- Illinois ESSA Plan Executive Summary (2018) Illinois ESSA Executive Summary Illinois State Board of Education.
- Illinois State Board of Education State Template for the Consolidated State Plan Under Every Student Succeeds Act (2017), U.S. Department of Education: OMB Number 1810-0576
- Jackson, L. A., & Jeffers, D. L. (1989). The attitudes about reality scale: A new measure of personal epistemology. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *53*(2), 353–365.

- Johns, S. K., & Kachel, D. E. (2017). ESSA: An opportunity for school library funding. *Teacher Librarian*, 44(4), 8.
- Jones, K., Wilson, R., Clark, L., & Dunham, M. (2018). Poverty and parent marital status influences on student achievement. *Educational Research Quarterly*, 42(1), 62– 80.
- Jorgensen, M. A., & Hoffmann, J. (2003). History of the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB). Assessment Report. Pearson Education: San Antonio.
- King, P. M., & Kitchener, K. S. (1994). Developing Reflective Judgment: Understanding and Promoting Intellectual Growth and Critical Thinking in Adolescents and Adults. Jossey-Bass Higher and Adult Education Series and Jossey-Bass Social and Behavioral Science Series. ERIC.
- King, P. M., & Kitchener, K. S. (1999). King and Kitcheners reflective judgment model. *New Directions for Student Services*, 88, 41–50.
- King, P. M., & Kitchener, K. S. (2004). Reflective judgment: Theory and research on the development of epistemic assumptions through adulthood. *Educational Psychologist*, 39(1), 5–18.

Koksal, M. S., & Ertekin, P. (2016). An instrument development study for determining prospective science teachers' science-specific epistemological beliefs. *Asia-Pacific Forum on Science Learning and Teaching*, 17(1), 1–16.

Kramer, T. J. (2007). Transformational Leadership by MB Bass & EG Riggio: (2006).
Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 282 pages, \$37.50 hardback. ISBN 0–8058–4761–8. Taylor & Francis.

- Lavery, L. (2017). Lessons learned: How parents respond to school mandates and sanctions. *Journal of Public Policy*, *37*(2), 205–232.
- Leal-Soto, F., & Ferrer-Urbina, R. (2017). Three-factor structure for Epistemic Belief Inventory: A cross-validation study. *PloS One*, *12*(3), e0173295.
- Leapley-Portscheller, C. I. (2008). Leadership style and adequate yearly progress: A correlational study of effective principal leadership. *Doctor of Education Dissertation, University of Phoenix, Arizona.*
- Leedy, P., & Omrod, J. a. J.,., 2016. Practical Research: Planning and Designing. Journal of Mangement and Economics, 1(2), 42-49.
- Leithwood, K., Harris, A., & Hopkins, D. (2020). Seven strong claims about successful school leadership revisited. *School Leadership & Management*, 40(1), 5–22.
- Leithwood, K., Sun, J., & Schumacker, R. (2020). How school leadership influences student learning: A test of "The four paths model." *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 56(4), 570–599.
- Markauskaite, L., & Goodyear, P. (2017). *Epistemic fluency and professional education*. Springer.
- Marzano, R. J., Frontier, T., & Livingston, D. (2011). *Effective supervision: Supporting the art and science of teaching*. Ascd.
- Marzano, R. J., Waters, T., & McNulty, B. A. (2001). School leadership that works: From research to results. ASCD.
- McFarland, J., Hussar, B., De Brey, C., Snyder, T., Wang, X., Wilkinson-Flicker, S., Gebrekristos, S., Zhang, J., Rathbun, A., & Barmer, A. (2017). The Condition of

Education 2017. NCES 2017-144. National Center for Education Statistics.

- Mei Kin, T., Abdull Kareem, O., Nordin, M. S., & Wai Bing, K. (2018). Principal change leadership competencies and teacher attitudes toward change: The mediating effects of teacher change beliefs. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 21(4), 427–446.
- Méndez, M. L., & Gayo, M. (2019). Common ground: On the centrality of residential and school choice. In *Upper Middle Class Social Reproduction* (pp. 55–81). Springer.
- Merk, S., Rosman, T., Rueß, J., Syring, M., & Schneider, J. (2017). Pre-service teachers' perceived value of general pedagogical knowledge for practice: Relations with epistemic beliefs and source beliefs. *PloS One*, *12*(9), e0184971.
- Moore, D. I. (2017). *Mississippi's teacher observation rubric: Administrator perceptions of appropriateness by grade level* [PhD Thesis]. The University of Southern Mississippi.
- Nagelkerke, N. J. (1991). A note on a general definition of the coefficient of determination. biometrika, 78(3), 691-692.
- Pallant, J. (2020). SPSS survival manual: A step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS. Routledge.
- Peralta, D. A., Dias, A. L. B., & Gonçalves, H. J. L. (2018). Professional Education in the US: Historical, legal and curricular landmarks. *Educação & Realidade*, 43, 969– 987.
- Perry, W. G., Jr (1968). Patterns of Development in Thought and Values of Students in a Liberal Arts College: A Validation of a Scheme. Final Report.

- Perry, W. G., Jr. (1999). Forms of Intellectual and Ethical Development in the College Years: A Scheme. Jossey-Bass Higher and Adult Education Series. ERIC.
- Polikoff, M. S. (2017). Why accountability matters, and why it must evolve. *Education Next*, *17*(3), 51–54.
- Rhames, M. A. (2019). Shuttering Schools in Chicago. Education Next, 19(3).
- Royce, J. R. (1964). The Encapsulated Man an Interdisciplinary Essay on the Search for Meaning.
- Rudolph, J. (2018). Leedy, PD, & Ormrod, JE (2015). Practical research. Planning and design . Boston, MA: Pea
- Saleem, G., Hasan, S. S., & Fayyaz, W. (2017). Relationship of epistemological development with wisdom, age, gender and education. *Pakistan Journal of Social* and Clinical Psychology, 15(1), 27–35.
- Schechter, C., & Shaked, H. (2017a). Leaving fingerprints: Principals' considerations while implementing education reforms. *Journal of Educational Administration*.
- Schechter, C., & Shaked, H. (2017b). Leaving fingerprints: Principals' considerations while implementing education reforms. *Journal of Educational Administration*.
- Schommer, M. (1989). The effects of beliefs about the nature of knowledge on comprehension (Doctoral dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 1989). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 50(08).
- Schommer, M. (1990). Effects of beliefs about the nature of knowledge on comprehension. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *82*(3), 498.

Schommer, M. (1993). Epistemological development and academic performance among

secondary students. Journal of Educational Psychology, 85(3), 406.

- Schommer, M. (1994a). An emerging conceptualization of epistemological beliefs and their role in learning.
- Schommer, M. (1994b). Synthesizing epistemological belief research: Tentative understandings and provocative confusions. *Educational Psychology Review*, 6(4), 293–319.
- Schommer, M., Crouse, A., & Rhodes, N. (1992). Epistemological beliefs and mathematical text comprehension: Believing it is simple does not make it so. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 84(4), 435.
- Schommer, M., & Walker, K. (1995). Are epistemological beliefs similar across domains? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87(3), 424.
- Schommer-Aikins, M. (2004). Explaining the epistemological belief system: Introducing the embedded systemic model and coordinated research approach. *Educational Psychologist*, 39(1), 19–29.
- Schommer-Aikins, M., Bird, M., & Bakken, L. (2010). *Manifestations of an* epistemological belief system in preschool to grade twelve classrooms.
- Schommer-Aikins, M., Duell, O. K., & Barker, S. (2003). Epistemological beliefs across domains using Biglan's classification of academic disciplines. *Research in Higher Education*, 44(3), 347–366.
- Schommer-Aikins, M., Duell, O. K., & Hutter, R. (2005). Epistemological beliefs, mathematical problem-solving beliefs, and academic performance of middle school students. *The Elementary School Journal*, *105*(3), 289–304.

- Schommer-Aikins, M., & Easter, M. (2009). Ways of knowing and willingness to argue. *The Journal of Psychology*, *143*(2), 117–132.
- Schools, C. P. (2017). *School Quality Rating Policy (SQRP) overview*. Retrieved. cps.edu/performance/pages/performancepolicy.aspx
- Schraw, G. (2013). Conceptual integration and measurement of epistemological and ontological beliefs in educational research. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2013.
- Schraw, G., Bendixen, L. D., & Dunkle, M. E. (2002). Development and validation of the Epistemic Belief Inventory (EBI).
- Schraw, G., Brownlee, J. L., Olafson, L., & Brye, M. V. V. (2017). Teachers' personal epistemologies: Evolving models for informing practice. IAP.
- Seales, S. (2011). Epistemological beliefs of administrators: A comparison of beliefs and actions of elementary and secondary school leaders [PhD Thesis]. The University of Alabama.
- Sebastian, J., & Allensworth, E. (2012a). The Influence of Principal Leadership on Classroom Instruction and. A study of Mediated pathways to Learning in Chicago.
- Sebastian, J., & Allensworth, E. (2012b). The influence of principal leadership on classroom instruction and student learning: A study of mediated pathways to learning. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 48(4), 626–663.
- Senge, P. M. (1990). *The art and practice of the learning organization*. New York: Doubleday.

Shaked, H. (2020). Role Identity of Instructional Leaders. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 0(0), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2020.1770805

- Spiess, J. F., & Cooper, R. (2020). Examining the relationship between beliefs about mind-set, beliefs about knowledge, and cultural proficiency development for K-12 public school teachers. *Education and Urban Society*, 52(2), 257–283.
- Stapp, A. C., & Karr, J. K. (2018). Effect of Recess on Fifth Grade Students' Time On-Task in an Elementary Classroom. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 10(4), 449–456.
- Stats and Facts | Chicago Public Schools. (n.d.). Retrieved January 12, 2022, from https://www.cps.edu/about/stats-facts/
- Staumont, J. (2017). Principals' Perception and Self-Efficacy: Addressing Achievement in a Post Annual Yearly Progress Environment. University of La Verne.
- Steinberg, M. P., & Cox, A. B. (2017). School autonomy and district support: How principals respond to a tiered autonomy initiative in Philadelphia public schools. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 16(1), 130–165.
- Stern, G. G. (1953). Inventory of beliefs. Syracuse University, (Mimeographed).
- Stern: Inventory of beliefs—Google Scholar. (n.d.). Retrieved January 12, 2022, from https://scholar.google.com/scholar\_lookup?hl=en&publication\_year=1953&autho r=GG+Stern&title=Inventory+of+beliefs
- Tabachnick, B. G., Fidell, L. S., & Ullman, J. B. (2018). *Using multivariate statistics* (7th ed.). Pearson Boston, MA.

Takemae, N., Dobbins, N., & Kurtts, S. (2018). Preparation and Experiences for

Implementation: Teacher Candidates' Perceptions and Understanding of

Universal Design for Learning. Issues in Teacher Education, 27(1), 73–93.

- Teo, T. (2013). Examining the psychometric properties of the Epistemic Belief Inventory (EBI). Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment, 31(1), 72–79.
- Teo, T., & Chai, C. S. (2012). A Cross-Cultural Validation of the Epistemic Belief Inventory (EBI). Asia-Pacific Education Researcher (De La Salle University Manila), 21(3).
- The relationship between principals' leadership styles and student achievement that meet adequate yearly progress goals—ProQuest. (n.d.). Retrieved January 12, 2022, from https://www.proquest.com/openview/4684dbcc02d13a3ab120c4391870523f/1?pq

-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750

- Thomas, P. L., Goering, C. Z., & Hill, S. (2017). Speaking truth to power: Building automatons: fait accompli for urban schools. *The English Journal*, *106*(3), 83–86.
- Thompson, B. (2004). Exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis: Understanding concepts and applications. *Washington, DC, 10694*.
- Tickle, E. L., Brownlee, J., & Nailon, D. (2005). Personal epistemological beliefs and transformational leadership behaviours. *Journal of Management Development*.
- Travlos, J. (2020). A Phenomenological Study of Chicago's Independent School Principals. DePaul University.
- Trépanier, S.-G., Fernet, C., & Austin, S. (2012). Social and motivational antecedents of perceptions of transformational leadership: A self-determination theory

perspective. Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science/Revue Canadienne Des Sciences Du Comportement, 44(4), 272.

- Tucker, L. R., & MacCallum, R. C. (1997). Exploratory factor analysis. Unpublished Manuscript, Ohio State University, Columbus.
- Varaki, B. S. (2003). Epistemological beliefs and leadership style among school principals. *International Education Journal*, *4*(3), 224–231.
- Varma, S. (2006). Preliminary item statistics using point-biserial correlation and pvalues. *Educational Data Systems Inc.: Morgan Hill CA. Retrieved*, 16(07).
- Watkins, P., & Moak, J. (2010). Elementary School Principal: Dispositional, Gender, and Environmental Predictors of Student Achievement Success for the 21st Century.
   National Forum of Applied Educational Research Journal, 24.
- West, E. J. (2004). Perry's legacy: Models of epistemological development. *Journal of Adult Development*, 11(2), 61–70.
- Wildenger, L. K., Hofer, B. K., & Burr, J. E. (2010). *Epistemological development in very young knowers*.
- Wilkinson, W. K., & Schwartz, N. H. (1991). A factor-analytic study of epistemological orientation and related variables. *The Journal of Psychology*, 125(1), 91–100.
- Winberg, T. M., Hofverberg, A., & Lindfors, M. (2019). Relationships between epistemic beliefs and achievement goals: Developmental trends over grades 5–11. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 34(2), 295–315.
- Woulfin, S. L., & Weiner, J. (2019). Triggering change: An investigation of the logics of turnaround leadership. *Education and Urban Society*, 51(2), 222–246.

## Appendix: Epistemological Beliefs of K-8 Principals Questionnaire

## **Demographic Questions**

1. How many years have you worked in the education field?

Less than 1 year, 1-2 years, 3-5 years, 5-10 years, 11-15 years, 16 or more years

2. Are you currently a principal of a school?

1) Yes, 2) No (**TERM**)

3. How many years have you been a principal?

Less than 2 years (TERM), 1-2 years, 3-5 years, 5-10 years, 11-15 years, 16 or

more years

4. What grades does your school have?

Select all that apply. 1) K-3, 2) 4-6, 3) 7-8, 4) high school (**TERM**)

5. Is your school in the Chicago Area?

1) Yes, 2) No (**TERM**)

6. Did your school meet AYP within the last year?

1) Yes 2) No

## **Epistemological Beliefs Questionnaire**

<u>Directions:</u> There are no right or wrong answers for the following items. We only want to know what you really believe. For each statement, indicate the degree to which you agree or disagree.

1 = Strongly Disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3 = No Opinion, 4 = Agree, 5 = Strongly Agree

- If you are ever going to be able to understand something, it will make sense to you the first time you hear it.
- 2. The only thing that is certain is uncertainty itself.
- 3. For success in school, it's best not to ask too many questions.
- 4. A course in study skills would probably be valuable.
- 5. How much a person gets out of school mostly depends on the quality of the teacher.
- 6. You can believe almost everything you read.
- 7. I often wonder how much my school leaders really know.
- 8. The ability to learn is innate.
- 9. It is annoying to listen to a speaker who cannot seem to make up his/her mind as to what he/she really believes.
- 10. Successful students understand things quickly.
- 11. A good teacher's job is to keep his/her students from wandering from the right track.
- 12. If scientists try hard enough, they can find the truth to almost anything.
- 13. People who challenge authority are overconfident.
- 14. I try my best to combine information from several sources or even across classes.
- 15. The most successful people have discovered how to improve their ability to learn.
- 16. Things are simpler than most professors would have you believe.
- 17. The most important aspects of scientific work are precise measurement and careful work.
- 18. To me, studying means getting the big ideas from the text rather than details.

- 19. Educators should know by now which is the best method, lecture or small group discussions.
- 20. Going over and over a difficult textbook chapter usually won't help you understand it.
- 21. Scientists can ultimately get to the truth.
- 22. You never know what a book means unless you know the intent of the author.
- 23. The most important part of scientific work is original thinking.
- 24. If I find the time to reread a textbook chapter, I get a lot more out of it the second time.
- 25. Students have a lot of control over how much they can get out of a textbook.
- 26. Genius is 10% ability and 90% hard work.
- 27. I find it refreshing to think about issues that authorities can't agree on.
- 28. Everyone needs to learn how to learn.
- 29. When you first encounter a difficult concept in a textbook, it's best to work it out on your own.
- 30. A sentence has little meaning unless you know the situation in which it is spoken.
- 31. Being a good student generally involves memorizing facts.
- 32. Wisdom is not knowing the answers but knowing how to find the answers.
- 33. Most words have one clear meaning.
- 34. Truth is unchanging.
- 35. If a person forgot details, and yet was able to come up with new ideas from a text, I would think they were bright.

- 36. Whenever I encounter(ed) a difficult problem in teaching, I consult(ed) with my principal or department chair.
- 37. Learning definitions word for word is often necessary to do well on tests.
- 38. When I study, I look for specific facts.
- 39. If a person can't understand something within a short amount of time, he/she should keep on trying.
- 40. Sometimes you just have to accept answers from a teacher even though you don't understand them.
- 41. If teachers would stick more to the facts and do less theorizing, students could get more out of school.
- 42. I don't like movies that don't have an ending.
- 43. Getting ahead takes a lot of work.
- 44. It's a waste of time to work on problems which have no possibility of coming out with a clear-cut and unambiguous answer.
- 45. Students should evaluate the accuracy of information in a textbook, if they are familiar with the topic.
- 46. Often, even advice from experts should be questioned.
- 47. Some people are born good learners, others are just stuck with limited ability.
- 48. Nothing is certain but death and taxes.
- 49. The really smart students don't have to work hard to do well in school.
- 50. Working hard on a difficult problem for an extended period of time only pays off for really smart students.

- 51. If a person tries too hard to understand a problem, he/she will most likely just end up being confused.
- 52. Almost all the information you can learn from a textbook you will get during the first reading.
- 53. Usually you can figure out difficult concepts if you eliminate all outside distractions and really concentrate.
- 54. A really good way to understand a textbook is to reorganize the information according to your own personal scheme.
- 55. Students who are "average" in school will remain "average" for the rest of their lives.
- 56. A tidy mind is an empty mind.
- 57. An expert is someone who has a special gift in some area.
- 58. I really appreciate instructors who organize their lectures meticulously and then stick to their plan.
- 59. The best thing about science courses is that most problems have only one right answer.
- 60. Learning is a slow process of building up knowledge.
- 61. Today's facts may be tomorrow's fiction.
- 62. Self-help books are not much help.
- 63. You will just get confused if you try to integrate new ideas in a textbook with knowledge you already have about a topic.

Schommer\_Aikins & Arredondo-Rucinsk (1989) Epistemological Beliefs Questionaiire.

Used with permission.

Marlo S-A <marloschommeraikins@gmail.com>

Thu 8/19/2021 1:08 PM

Show all 11 attachments (10 MB)Download allSave all to OneDrive - Walden

University

 $\setminus$ 

Dear Leland Sanford,

You have my approval to use my survey. You may need to modify it in order to make it

appropriate for your sample. I have attached a document with the survey and a few

articles that you may find of interest.

Sincerely,

Marlene Schommer-Aikins, PhD

Professor Emerita of Educational Psychology